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"We do not know his rank or his battalion. We do
not know where he was born, or precisely how
and when he died. We do not know where in
Australia he has made his home or when he left
it for the battlefields of Europe. We do not know
his age or his circumstances – whether he was
from the city or the bush; what occupation he
left to become a soldier; what religion, if he had
a religion; if he was married or single. We do not
know who loved him or whom he loved. If he
had children we do not know who they are. His
family is lost to us as he was lost to them. We
will never know who this Australian was. Yet he
has always been among those we have
honoured. We know that he was one of the
45,000 Australians who died on the Western
Front. One of the 416,000 Australians who
volunteered for service in the First World War.
One of the 324,000 Australians who served
overseas in that war; and one of the 60,000
Australians who died on foreign soil. One of the
100,000 Australians who have died in wars this
century." Dedication to the Unknown Soldier.
Don Watson

Vision

"Perhaps the most drastic effect of the war on
Australia would never be enumerated: it was the
loss of all those talented people who would have
become prime ministers and premiers, judges,
divines, engineers, teachers, doctors, poets,
inventors and farmers, the mayors of towns and
leaders of trade unions, and the fathers of
another generation of Australians. It was a war in
which those with the gift of leadership, the spark
of courage, and the willingness to make
sacrifices often took the highest risks. The
Australians were all volunteers. It may be that on
Gallipoli and in France we lost the most
generous spirits of a generation."
Geoffrey Blainey

 To provide leadership and excellence in
biomedical research in national and
international arenas.

To provide leadership and excellence in health
and medical research activities throughout
Australia, with a focus on ageing, to improve the
future health and medical care for the
Australasian community. In so doing, the
Foundation will provide a lasting legacy to the
veterans and their families who have created the
society we have today.

Mission
 To establish and operate a state-of-the-art
biomedical research institute on the campus
of Concord Hospital that is affiliated with the
University of Sydney.
 To encourage, collaborate in and undertake
basic, clinical and epidemiological research,
with a particular focus on ageing, that aims to
improve health and medical care and is
dedicated to the memory of our war veterans
and their families.
 To gain and optimise support from the wider
community in order to facilitate our vision.

 To foster education and training in relevant
research and health disciplines.

He is all of them. And he is one of us.
Just as the Unknown Soldier represents the
sacrifice made by our forebears and symbolises
the ANZAC spirit, the ANZAC Health and
Medical Research Foundation will, in perpetuity,
add to our Nation’s understanding and
confidence about our place in the world and
our capacity to play a creative and humane part
in it. The Foundation’s vision will encourage us
to recognise how important it is for our Nation
to believe in great ideas and to have them at
the forefront of our ambitions.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
Changed arrangements for infrastructure funding provided
by the NSW Government have made the funding outlook
less certain for the operational environment of the Institute.
The incorporation of the laboratory activities of the Centre
for Research and Education on Ageing within the Institute
has effectively reduced the funding stream available for the
combined infrastructure, and the implications of plans to
encourage institutes to combine into funding hubs are also
of concern to the Board.
The Board of the Foundation, which comprises
representatives of the key stakeholder organisations behind
ANZAC as well as from the scientific and general
community, has taken a strategic approach to the forward
planning for the Institute. In particular, I would like to thank
our Deputy Chair, Mr Paul McClintock for his support and
wise counsel, Professor Diana Horvath AO, Mr Matthew
Daly and Mr Danny O’Connor for their continued support
despite the pressures of restructuring of the Area Health
Services, and Mr David MacGowan for his untiring efforts as
Chair of the Finance Committee.

The achievements of the ANZAC Research Institute as
detailed in this year’s Annual Report demonstrate that the
Institute is well on its way to establishing itself as one of the
leading research institutes in Sydney. The year has seen
rapid expansion of our staff to ensure full and productive
use of all laboratories, with the constant interaction between
scientists creating a stimulating and supportive work
environment. The attraction of young scientists to the
Summer Scholarships is further demonstration of the
developing prestige of ANZAC Research Institute.
This rapid expansion has placed enormous pressure on the
scant administrative resources of the Institute and the
Board has discussed the need for renewed fund raising
efforts to ensure an adequate funding stream to cater for
housekeeping and support costs. The fund raising
committee under the chairmanship of Mr Brian Lee has
decided to mount a major fund raising drive over the next
financial year.
The finance committee, led by Mr David MacGowan, has
been reviewing ways in which income from the invested
funds of the Foundation can be increased and used to
provide better support to the administration of the Institute.
Accounting practices have been reviewed and improved
during the year and the Board was also pleased to note the
introduction of a risk management plan for the Institute.

On behalf of the Board, I congratulate Professor David
Handelsman for his outstanding scientific achievements
and the fine leadership he has displayed in development of
the institute. We also congratulate the many scientists
whose work at the Institute has been rewarded with such a
long list of grants and important publications. We thank the
administrative staff, especially the General Manager, Ms
Christine Harrison, and Ms Vanessa Briffa for the excellent
support they have provided to the Board.

Felicity Barr
Chairman

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Welcome to the ANZAC Research Institute’s report on its
fifth year. The Institute continues to grow and consolidate its
scientific directions and achievements. It now provides a
research home to nearly 100 scientists within eight research
clusters, all working closely with affiliated hospital
departments. Essentially, within a few years, all available
laboratory space has been allocated and the staff numbers
are close to full capacity. During this year, the Institute
attracted $4.5 million of income including nearly $3 million
from peer-reviewed grant funds much from NHMRC and
ARC. Within this year, Institute scientists produced 131
peer-reviewed publications and had five students
completed PhD’s. Beyond these broad measures of
success, this Annual Report gives more details of the wide
variety of cutting edge projects the Institute’s scientists are
engaged upon.
The Institute’s overall mission is to provide dedicated, stateof-the-art medical research infrastructure for the Concord
Hospital campus. The founding vision for the Institute was
shaped by recognising that medical research is essential for
progress in health and medical care. The future of a major
teaching hospital like Concord depends on having high
quality medical research facilities. Being close to filling its
original laboratory space, the Institute is looking actively to
further develop. With this in mind, the Institute has been
leading the drive to establish a new research facility, the
Asbestos Disease Research Centre, at the Concord
campus. It is intended that the Institute’s contributions
would extend the research capacity and facilities on the
Concord campus in this important research synergism with
the Institute.
Being located fifteen kilometres from the University of
Sydney main campus provides challenges in attracting the
best and brightest PhD students to undertake research
training at the Institute. Although we offer outstanding
research training supervised by excellent scientists,
students need to see at first hand the outstanding
intellectual and physical facilities. To overcome the barrier
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of distance, the Institute developed a Summer Scholarship
Scheme to bring top science and medicine students from
around Australia and New Zealand to experience research
at the Institute over the summer break. This scheme aimed
to have promising students undertake short-term research
projects which mimic the research experience over eight
weeks. During this year, the Institute’s successful Summer
Scholarship Scheme was adopted University-wide by the
Faculty of Medicine, which offered 40 scholarships. The
Institute secured eight of these and each scholar made
excellent progress and presentation of their findings. In
addition to completing valuable short-term projects. The
Institute’s scheme aims to foster a relationship with these
high achievers to encourage them to undertake their PhD
studies at the Institute. In recognition of this innovative
scheme, which was modelled and operated by the
Institute’s scientists, the 2005 University of Sydney Vice
Chancellor’s Award for Enhancing the Student Experience
was awarded to the Institute.
The heart of the Institute‘s success in science is its
scientists. Top research requires attracting and retaining the
best scientists as well as training the next generation of
researchers. Scientists and their graduate students must
have access to state-of-the-art specialised research
equipment to work the international cutting edge. In
practice, people support requires fellowships for upcoming
career scientists and PhD scholarships to allow promising
students to undertake guided research training. For the
state-of-the-art equipment, with support from NHMRC,
Ramaciotti and Rebecca Cooper Foundations and the
University of Sydney, the Institute has acquired major
equipment facilities for molecular, cell and transgenic
biology research. Our continuing success critically depends
on obtaining new specialised scientific equipment.
While the Institute’s scientists are highly successful in
obtaining competitive research grants and contracts, it is
clear that an important determinant of the Institute’s overall
future success is the Foundation’s fundraising. Tax-free
scholarship stipends are a highly cost-effective way to
support research for scientific training of the next
generation of scientists. Post-doctoral fellowships help
create the critical mass of diverse scientific skills and would
recruit and retain valuable scientific expertise. Our
fundraising efforts must try to match the successes of our
scientists in grant funding and scientific discoveries. Thus
the Foundation’s fundraising efforts will be decisive for the
Institute’s future.
In November 2004, the Institute was pleased to have the
Northcott Neurosciences Laboratory officially opened by Mr
M Reid, Director-General of NSW Ministry of Science and
Medical Research. The Northcott bequest to the Institute,
aiming to continue the work of the Northcott Centre in
Cammeray after its closure, is supporting research into
neurodegenerative diseases such as dementias, like
Parkinson’s and Alzheimer’s diseases, as well as peripheral
neuropathies. The Northcott Neurosciences Laboratory is
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now the home for Professor Garth Nicholson’s world leading
neurogenetic research. The Northcott Bequest is also
supporting two PhD scholars researching the causes of
neurodegenerative disease. During the year the Professor
Nicholson’s laboratory also attracted two more valuable
bequests to fund their groundbreaking research at the
Institute.
This report is the chance to acknowledge the hard work of
the many people who contribute to our growth and success.
Firstly, the Institute owes thanks for the hard work of the
management team that keep its central functions running.
These comprise our General Manager, Christine Harrison,
and our support staff, Vanessa Briffa, Annet Doss and
Tancred Fergus, as well as Mamdouh Khalil and his animal
services team. We are fortunate to have such strong
organisational support of the Institute’s overall goals.
This is also the chance to thank the Foundation’s Board
together with our friends and supporters whose continuing
efforts will determine how well the ANZAC Research
Institute continues to succeed. The Institute’s overall goal to
enhance the high standards of Concord Hospital’s medical
care can only be fulfilled in conjunction with the Sydney
South West Area Health Service. It is a particular pleasure
to thank Danny O’Connor, General Manager and Dr
Margaret Sanger, Director of Medical Services, Concord
Hospital as well as Professor Diana Horvath and Michael
Wallace of the Area Health Service directorate for their
enlightened and unwavering practical support. In the same
way, this is also my chance to thank Felicity Barr, Chair of
our Foundation Board, for her invaluable support in
furthering the great vision provided by our inaugural Chair,
the late Professor John Young.

Staff and students of ANZAC Research Institute

It is one of life’s finest rewards for a medical scientist to work
in such an enjoyable and productive research environment
as the Institute with its talented and creative scientists. They
provide the very best of scientific collegiality while achieving
great things for medical science, their laboratories and the
Institute. The Institute is so much more than the sum of its
parts because of their productive interactions and
collaborations. We are fortunate indeed to have such highly
motivated and skilled scientific staff and I thank them for
their fine efforts.
With the support of many and within five years of inception,
the ANZAC Research Institute has become one of NSW’s
major independent medical research institutes with
international recognition. We are proud to present this
record of progress in grants, publications and scientific
training produced by our scientists in this report. Your
support for our future progress will be greatly appreciated
and make a valuable contribution to our mutual future
through the best medical research to ensure the highest
standards for our health and medical care.

David Handelsman
Director

RESEARCH REPORTS
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CANCER PHARMACOLOGY
Group Leader: Professor Stephen Clarke
Senior Scientists: Associate Professor Graham Robertson,
Dr Patsie Polly
Staff and Students
Filip Bebek, Anthony Corradin, Haryana Dhillon, Chantal
Gebbie, Marina Kacevska, Dr Andre Mahns, Marko Matic,
Jane Reid, Rohini Sharma, Dr Timothy Tan, Lili Truong, Dr
Maria Tsoli, Anne Vanniasinghe.
The Cancer research group is a new addition to the ANZAC
Research Institute, following the appointment of Prof
Stephen Clarke to the Chair of Medicine at Concord RG
Hospital. This enabled the establishment of a new team
comprising ten laboratory-based research scientists and
students, as well as four others with clinical responsibility.
This expansion has lead to a significant increase in cancer
research activities based at the Concord campus in the last
year involving developments in multiple interests including
clinical trials of new cancer treatments, nutritional and
psycho-oncology research and the establishment of a
molecular-based cancer pharmacology laboratory.

Clinical Trials and Studies
S Clarke, H Dhillon, C Gebbie, J Reid, L Truong
In the last 12 months Concord RG Hospital has become a
major Australian centre for clinical trials in colorectal cancer
patients with particular emphasis on the angiogenesis
inhibitor bevacizumab. In nutritional cancer research we
have evaluated the prognostic value of nutritional
assessments and demonstrated that patients with advanced
colorectal cancer and a poor nutritional status have a
shorter survival than well nourished patients. In psychooncology research, among other projects, we are assessing
whether education and counselling might improve end of
life decision making.
Another exciting development is the start of collaboration
with the Australian Proteome Analysis Facility (APAF) at
Macquarie University to identify protein biomarkers that will
help predict the response of colorectal cancer patients to
new molecular-targeted anticancer agents. Such biomarkers
will guide the development of individualised treatment
regimes that will take into account the variability in efficacy
and toxicity to drugs experienced by many cancer patients.

Cancer Pharmacology
The focus of the Cancer Pharmacology laboratory is to
explain interpatient differences in response and toxicity to
anticancer drugs. The treatment of cancer patients with
drugs is difficult due to the fine balance between killing
tumour cells and causing toxicity to normal cells. Therefore
the huge variability between patients in clearance of
anticancer agents has a significant impact on the success
of chemotherapy. Anti-tumour action may be lost if the drug
is cleared too rapidly, while slow drug excretion may lead to
extreme toxicity. A better understanding of the source of this
variability should lead to improvements in the manner in
which chemotherapy is administered and would represent a
welcome advance for cancer patients.

Does inflammation associated with tumours
repress drug clearance in the liver?
F Bebek, S Clarke, M Kacevska, P Polly, A Mahns,
G Robertson, R Sharma
The rate of breakdown and elimination of drugs from the
body is largely determined by the levels of enzymes called
cytochrome P450s (CYPs) in the liver as well as specific
drug transporters that move drugs in and out of cells. In
humans, CYP3A4 is responsible for the disposal of more
than half of all drugs including many important anticancer
agents. Clinical studies carried out by our group found that
CYP3A4 levels are reduced in some cancer patients,
leading to greater toxicity. The reason for the reduced
CYP3A4 activity by the liver appears to be the presence of
a marked inflammatory response caused by the growth of
the tumour in tissues outside the liver. Therefore a major
goal of our research is to study the links between
inflammatory cytokines released by tumours and downregulation of drug clearance pathways in the liver.
Ultimately we hope to be able to predict which patients will
suffer toxicity and to develop anti-inflammatory treatments
that will normalise drug handling and improve patients’
response to anticancer drugs.
As it is difficult to study these processes in the livers of
patients, we created a transgenic mouse model of human
CYP3A4 regulation. Using these mice we have carried out
experiments to analyse the signalling pathways and
molecular mechanism involved in mediating the
inflammatory response of the liver to tumours. We have
found that this process is linked with the growth of several
different cancers, including melanoma, breast, colon and
sarcoma, indicating that this may be a general feature of
many different cancers. In addition to repression of CYP3A
metabolism, hepatic drug transporters for several important
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anticancer drugs are also switched off in the presence of
cancer, leading to even slower clearance of drugs from the
body and hence greater toxicity. The use of mouse tumour
models will enable us to perform preclinical testing of antiinflammatory interventions aimed at normalising drug
clearance.

Drug clearance and cancer treatments
S Clarke, G Robertson, M Tsoli, A Vanniasinghe
Another source of variability in drug clearance is due to the
multiple drugs cancer patients are prescribed as well as the
common use of herbal remedies. As many drugs and
constituents of herbal therapies can themselves alter the
clearance of anticancer drugs by changing CYP3A4 and
drug transporter levels the CYP3A4 transgenic mice can be
used to screen for such drug interactions. These
complications in drug and herbal use are mediated by a
factor in the liver called Pregnane X Receptor (PXR). By
sensing the presence of drugs in the body and switching on
pathways of metabolism and transport, PXR is the master
regulator of drug clearance. We have used cell based assays
of PXR activation and found commonly used cancer drugs
such as vinorelbine and etopside as well as the herbs St
John’s Wort and Ginkgo may cause drug interactions.
Computer-based molecular modelling has also been
developed to predict which drugs have the potential to
activate PXR.

Molecular analysis of PXR
F Bebek, A Corradin, A Mahns, M Matic, P Polly,
G Robertson, T Tan, M Molloy (APAF)
To understand how PXR functions in regulating target genes
involved in drug clearance pathways, we are carrying out
detailed molecular studies into the PXR protein. An
important step is to identify which domains of the PXR
protein are necessary for interactions with other molecules
in liver cells after PXR is activation by drugs. We are
especially interested in defining specific interactions with
other protein co-factors which move PXR into the nucleus
and form the active multi-protein complex required to
switch on target genes. Specific modifications of the PXR
protein, such as phosphorylation, are likely to play a critical
role in modulating such interactions with other proteins. We
have obtained some of the first direct evidence that PXR
can be phosphorylated in cells.
In conjunction with APAF we are using sophisticated
proteomic techniques to map the parts of the PXR protein
which are targets for phosphorylation. We anticipate that
this information will help to understand how different
diseases that have a marked inflammatory component,
such as cancer, impact on PXR function by altering its
phosphorylation state. In addition, we are analysing other
related nuclear receptors, including RXR and HNF, to
determine if inflammatory diseases have a similar impact on
their function in the liver and thereby alter drug handling.

Left to right: Stephen Clarke, Patsie Polly, Graham Robertson, Marina Kacevska, Filip Bebek, Anthony Corradin, Maria Tsoli, Marko
Matic, Andre Mahns and Anne Vanniasinghe

ANDROLOGY
Group Leader: Professor David Handelsman
Senior Scientists: Dr Charles Allan, Dr Peter Liu
Staff and Students
Lydia Andres, Fay Bacha, Ass. Prof Ann Conway, Irene Di
Pierro, Kaye Griffiths, Amanda Idan, Mark Jimenez, Dr
Sharyn Kelleher, Patrick Lim, Danny Liske, Dr Lam Ly,
Kirsten McTavish, Ben Marshan, Diane Quinn, Dr Ulla
Simanainen, Jenny Spaliviero, Leo Turner, Ljubica Vrga, Dr
Kirsty Walters, Sue Wishart, Chris Young
Andrology is the study of male reproductive health,
medicine and biology. Our laboratory focuses on the
biological and clinical effects of androgens, the major male
hormones testosterone (T) and dihydrotestosterone (DHT)
on men’s health. Androgens fulfil vital and well known roles
in male reproductive functions such as fertility and sexuality
but they also have important influence on most other tissues
especially the prostate, cardiovascular system, bone and
the brain. In medicine androgens are used to treat hormone
deficiency states and men with certain chronic diseases but
these are also being tested for use in male contraception
and for ageing men. Androgens are also a crucial influence
on the development of prostate and cardiovascular diseases
as men grow older.
The Andrology group conducts a range of studies spanning
basic, clinical and public health research with a focus on
male reproductive health across all ages. Combining the
Andrology Laboratory at the ANZAC Research Institute and
Department of Andrology at Concord Hospital, it features an
integrated bench to bedside and beyond approach
intended to facilitate successful translational research.
Our research focuses on improvement in four broad aspects
of men’s health
• Androgen therapy to improve health and well-being
• Causes, prevention and treatment of prostate disease
• Understanding testicular function, notably hormonal
control of sperm production
• Understanding the effect of male hormones in health and
in ageing

Clinical pharmacology of testosterone
S Kelleher, A Conway, L Turner, DJ Handelsman
Research continues into the clinical pharmacology of
testosterone and androgen replacement therapy. Our
Research has re-established subdermal testosterone
implants as a highly effective and affordable treatment for
young men with androgen deficiency. Yet, although this
treatment is convenient for young men with androgen
deficiency, implantation of pellets involves a minor surgical
procedure, the major drawback being extrusions. This is

7

where one or more pellets tracks back under the skin to be
expelled through the implantation site. Several clinical
research studies have examined ways to prevent extrusions
and improve implant delivery. These studies have helped
further define how long treatment lasts and why it varies
between people as well as at what threshold of blood
testosterone levels men become aware of the symptoms of
insufficient circulating testosterone levels. Future studies
will test newer testosterone products on the market to
determine their role vis a vis the existing products.

Androgen misuse and abuse: Sports doping
C Young, DJ Handelsman in collaboration with A Death, L
McRobb, K McGrath (Heart Research Institute) and R
Kazlausakas, C Howe (National Measurement Institute)
The marked benefits of androgens on muscle strength,
energy and quality of life mean among men with genuine
androgen deficiency mean that androgens are particularly
liable to overuse. This may be in the form of medical misuse
via misguided over-prescribing or as androgen abuse
involving the use of illicit androgenic drugs for sports doping
and body building.
We have developed a national and state-based surveillance
of PBS-funded testosterone prescribing patterns to monitor
testosterone misuse. This has helped to identify misuse that
calls for improved professional and public education with
the goal of distinguishing between valid evidence-based use
of testosterone treatment and deterring overuse and
misuse. Fortunately, surveys of Australian high school
students indicate that androgen abuse has remains at
steady, relatively low levels during the last decade.
Androgen abuse is the illicit use of androgens for sports
doping or body building. In addition to violating the spirit of
fair play in sport, these practices endanger the health of the
athlete. Androgens are the most effective and widely
abused drugs for sports doping, and so are banned by the
World Anti-Doping Agency and ASADA. These bans are
policed by the detection of androgens in urine specimens
obtained from elite athletes. Although well-known
androgens are readily detected by sophisticated and
sensitive chemical methods, in recent years new designer
androgens have been developed to evade detection.
Our group was the first to prove that the designer androgen
THG was a potent androgen, evidence that was pivotal to
the first successful prosecution for THG use by an athlete.
Maintaining effective bans on androgens requires continual
improvement in detection of illicit androgens. The Andrology
group is now undertaking WADA- and ASADA-supported
clinical and laboratory studies to develop new and more
powerful detection tests for such novel androgens.
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Transgenic Models to Study Hormonal
Regulation of Spermatogenesis
CM Allan, P Lim, K McTavish, J Spaliviero, M Jimenez, DJ
Handelsman
We are learning how testosterone and the pituitary
hormone, FSH, stimulate testis development, in particular
sperm production of spermatogenesis. Looking at how the
key reproductive steroids, testosterone and its active
products DHT and estradiol, interact to initiate and maintain
the complex process of sperm production essential for male
fertility.
Testosterone has multiple pathways of action but when
acting as a male hormone it acts primarily through binding
in cells to a single protein called the androgen receptor
(AR). To identify the important target cells and biological
pathways required for androgen-induced spermatogenesis,
PhD student Patrick Lim has developed new mouse models
that lack the androgen receptor (AR) either completely or
selectively in predetermined testis cell types. A new model
has been created to selectively investigate AR in the
testicular Sertoli cells. These are the highly specialised cells
that nurture developing sperm in the testis. This work has
verified the central role of Sertoli cell AR in orchestrating the
completion of spermatogenesis. We have recently
confirmed the remarkable finding that estradiol, a primary
female hormone, can, on its own, initiate spermatogenesis
in mice lacking all other reproductive hormones. Yet, by
using other male mice that lack all AR activity, we found that
these estradiol effects can only occur when there is a
functional AR in the testis suggesting that estradiol in males
is only effective by acting through the major pathway of
androgen action.
Ongoing research is exploring further what this unusual
response can tell about the way sperm production is
switched on and off. The unique models we have developed
will identify the underlying biological pathways essential for
steroid-dependent testicular function. These findings may
help foster new approaches for male contraception, new
targets for treatment of male infertility and testis cancer as
well as providing new ways to improve testis function in
older men.

Male Hormonal Contraception
L Turner, AJ Conway, M Jimenez, DJ Handelsman
The development of male hormonal contraceptive is major
practical application of improved knowledge about how
hormones control sperm production. Men continue to have
strong interest in effective family planning with about one
third of couples using family planning depending on male
methods. Yet no new male method were introduced in the
20th century, a period when highly effective, reversible
contraceptives were developed for women in one of the
greatest and more influential achievements in applied
science.
Following 15 years of studies, the Andrology Department
published in 2003 a proof of concept study establishing
very high reliability of a depot combined hormonal male
contraceptive. This approach featuring a long-acting
injectable for better safety and reliability as well as a
combining testosterone with a progestin, is now the
favoured approach and rekindling the interest of the
pharmaceutical industry for practical development of
marketable products to provide an effective, reversible male
hormonal contraceptive. Currently, based on the excellent
findings of our study, Department is extending its clinical
experience with the combined depot approach offering the
first medical male hormonal contraceptive service offered in
the world.
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Origins of prostate disease
K Griffiths, S Wishart, B Jin, L Chan, A Conway,
DJ Handelsman
Two long-term clinical cohort studies are underway to look at
the origins of prostate disease focusing on early life factors,
such as pre birth or during puberty, that may predestine the
development of prostate disease decades later.
One is following a cohort of 570 men studied 5-10 years
previously to measure the growth rate of the human prostate
by ultrasound and to identify lifestyle, hormonal and genetic
factors that may influence it. A second study is focusing on
how events before and soon after birth may determine the
susceptibility of the prostate to diseases such as prostate
cancer and hyperplasia in later life. This project is
establishing a birth cohort of young men born about 1970
as identified from hospital birth records.
In contrast to a birth cohort developed by collaborators in
Adelaide tracing girls, the recruitment of boys in Sydney has
proved much more difficult. Prompted by the necessity to
improve recruitment, we have streamlined the procedures
as far as possible and have now embarked on a detour to
develop a less invasive method of prostate volume
measurement. With urological colleagues we have devised
a less invasive ultrasound technique avoiding transrectal
probe. Evaluation of this improved method is underway
before recommencement of recruitment of the birth cohort.

Clinical trial of DHT to prevent prostate
growth
A Idan, K Griffiths, L Turner, AJ Conway, D J Handelsman
An advance in understanding the development or prostate
development and disease was recognising that the prostate
has an inbuilt amplification system that boosts the potency
of testosterone entering the gland. The enzyme, 5a
reductase type 2, is expressed in the prostate that converts
testosterone to DHT, a more potent androgen. This highly
selective expression in the prostate of this enzyme allowed
development of specific blockers of this enzyme that reduce
prostate over-growth, the main reason for prostate surgery
in older men, and reduce the rate of development of
prostate cancer.
Following these observations and our own research
suggesting a striking reduction in prostate growth rate in
otherwise healthy older men, the Department of Andrology
at Concord Hospital has engaged in a study to evaluate in
detail how effective DHT is at preventing prostate growth in
middle-aged men without known prostate disease.
Sponsored by an overseas pharmaceutical company, it will
also monitor carefully whether the DHT treatment has any
adverse effects on bone or the cardiovascular system.

Tissue-selective role of androgens in the
prostate
U Simanainen, CM Allan, P Lim, DJ Handelsman
The androgen receptor (AR) has a crucial role in both
normal prostate development and the emergence and
progression of prostate cancer. Dr Ulla Simanainen has
come from Finland to study the AR and prostate function by
applying innovative transgenic approaches to selectively
disrupt AR function in defined cell types within the mouse
prostate. A model targeting AR in the prostate epithelium
has been created to explore the role of androgen in the
development of structures fundamental to normal
functioning prostate, as well as in prostate proliferative
diseases of benign prostate hyperplasia and cancer that
develop in later life. Ongoing research will also investigate
the influence of selective AR deprivation on long-term
steroidal sensitivity of the prostate, noting early hormonal
exposure and deprivation may have long-range influences
and essential roles in the subsequent development of
prostate cancer later in life. This research may provide new
clues for targets for prevention and treatment for prostate
diseases including prostate cancer.

Androgens and the ovary
K Walters, K McTavish, P Lim, CM Allan, DJ Handelsman, P
Illingworth (Westmead Hospital), J Zajac (University of
Melbourne)
Androgens are essential for male reproduction and
traditionally are regarded as a defining characteristic of
masculinity. There is growing interest in pharmacological
use of androgens in women and some recent evidence
suggests androgens may also have a role in normal female
physiology. This project is exploring the possible role of
androgen receptor (AR) in female physiology, notably in the
ovary and female reproductive tissues such as breast and
uterus.
New transgenic models have been established to selectively
inactivate the AR gene, resulting in female mice functionally
unable to respond to any androgens including testosterone.
Since such females cannot occur in nature, we have
created a unique and important opportunity to characterise
the role of androgens acting though the AR in female
reproductive and non-reproductive physiology. Dr Kirsty
Walters from Scotland has joined the laboratory to study this
unique AR-null female model. Initial findings have revealed
reduced fertility and altered uterine growth, suggesting
androgens have important and previously unrecognised
contributions to female reproductive development and
function.
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Genetic model to study FSH and female
reproductive ageing
K McTavish, P Illingworth, DJ Handelsman, CM Allan
In women, fertility terminates in mid-adult life with the onset
of menopause after which women are oestrogen deficient.
Menopause signifies the final exhaustion of ovarian follicles,
where eggs are developed, following the progressive
deletion of the vast majority of these cells from birth
onwards by a process known as atresia. The rate of atresia
dictates the timing of menopause so that altering the atresia
rate could modify age of menopause. Changes in the age of
menopausal oestrogen deficiency could have major impact
on female health and well-being through oestrogen
dependent health and disorders.
Although menopause is a salient event, female reproductive
ageing begins well before menopause as the depletion of
ovarian follicles accelerates in its last phase. During this
period, blood levels of the pituitary hormone FSH gradually
increase. While this has been suspected of causing the
terminal collapse of ovarian follicle numbers, it has proved
difficult to study in women. We have established a unique
mouse model to explore the relationship between FSH and

ovarian ageing. We have found that over expression of FSH
had no effect upon sperm production or fertility in male
mice, but has striking effects upon female fertility. In female
mice, transgenic over expression of FSH initially increases
litter size of young females but declines rapidly causing
premature infertility. These features replicate, and therefore
provide interesting models for, clinical situations of
gonadotrophin-induced hyperstimulation and menopause.
This transgenic female model provides a unique paradigm
to explore the ageing relationship between increasing basal
FSH levels and follicle reserve, as well as proposed markers
of ovarian function and the early follicle stock.
Preliminary research suggests that premature infertility due
to transgenic FSH is not linked to early depletion of the nonrenewable ovarian follicle pool. Indeed, recent examination
of isolated transgenic FSH actions in hormone-deficient hpg
females indicated that FSH “positively” regulates the early
follicle reserve. This important but unexpected finding is
relevant to the preservation or rescue of follicles following
damage to the ovary from chemotherapy or radiotherapy as
well as the consequences of IVF hyperstimulation, in
particularly in light of the controversial new proposal that
early follicles may still be capable of “self-renewal” in
mature females. Studies have started to characterise the
aberrant fertility in the novel transgenic FSH female model.

Back left to right: Ulla Simanainen, Kirsten McTavish, Susan Schmidt, Karsten Kleo, Danny Liske, Charles Allan
Front left to right: Mark Jimenez, Pat Lim, Kirsty Walters, David Handelsman, Jenny Spaliviero

BIOGERONTOLOGY
Group Leader: Professor David Le Couteur
Senior Scientist: Dr Michael Muller
Dr Rajkumar Cheluvappa, Dr Victoria Cogger, Prof Robin
Fraser, Dr Sarah Hilmer, Dr Hamish Jamieson, Jameel
Khan, Mimi Saba, Allesandra Warren
The Biogerontology group, the biological research arm of
the Centre for Education and Research on Ageing (CERA) at
Concord RG Hospital, investigates the biology of ageing and
its underlying mechanisms. The emphasis of our work is
age-related changes in healthy organisms and how these
changes may lead to age-related diseases. Currently, our
primary focus is on the ageing liver.
Blood flow through the liver is via small vessels termed
sinusoids. These liver sinusoids are lined with endothelial
cells that are distinct from most other vascular beds in that
they are highly perforated. These perforations, called
fenestrae, act as a sieve allowing exchange of solutes and
small particles, including lipids, between the blood and
liver. Our research has shown that with advancing age the
number of fenestrae decrease, a process termed
defenestration, leading to a reduction in blood/liver
exchange. We hypothesise that age-related defenestration
of liver sinusoidal endothelial cells contributes to reduced
drug clearance and hyperlipidemia in the elderly.
The significance of our work on the ageing liver continued
to be recognised in 2004 by the award of two new NHMRC
project grants for the period 2005-2007. Our work has been
greatly facilitated by the Institute’s recent acquisition of a
scanning electron microscope.
As a laboratory committed to encouraging younger
scientists to undertake advanced research, two new
international students, Dr Hamish Jamieson from New
Zealand and Dr Rajkumar Cheluvappa from India,
commenced their PhD studies.

The ageing liver
V Cogger, D Le Couteur, M Muller
Dr Victoria Cogger has continued her research on agerelated structural changes in the liver sinusoid and how
these changes contribute to age-related pathologies, such
as cardiovascular disease. This work has largely focused on
endothelial cell morphology.
She has been particularly interested in the Poloxamer 407
model of hyperlipidemia in both the in vivo and in vitro
systems. Poloxamer 407 provides an interesting and useful
tool for studying the relationship of the unique structure of
the liver sinusoidal endothelial cell and its function as a
sieve. This work has been carried out in a collaborative
project with Dr Sarah Hilmer and examines lipoprotein
sieving in the isolated perfused liver.
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This year this work was presented at two international
conferences: the 12th International Symposium on Cells of
the Hepatic Sinusoid in Bilbao Spain; and at the 18th
Congress of the International Association of Gerontology in
Rio De Janiero, Brazil.
It was featured on the front cover of the Journal of
Hepatology in September 2004. In May 2005 Victoria was
awarded a Faculty of Medicine Travelling Fellowship to
contribute towards a one-year sabbatical at the National
Institute of Health in Washington, USA.

The ageing liver and hyperlipidaemia
S Hilmer, V Cogger, M Saba, D Sullivan (Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital), D Le Couteur, R de Cabo (NIA, USA)
Dr Sarah Hilmer completed her PhD entitled, “The ageing
liver: implications for lipoprotein and drug metabolism” and
graduated from the University of Sydney in April 2005. She
was awarded an NHMRC travel grant and spent four
months at the National Institute on Ageing in Baltimore.
She continued her studies, with Dr Rafael de Cabo, on the
ageing liver in a rodent model of caloric restriction that
delays age-related changes. She also carried out clinical
epidemiologic research with the Health, Ageing and Body
Composition Study of community dwelling older people.
Under the supervision of Dr Darrell Abernethy of Johns
Hopkins University, she used pharmacological principles to
develop an equation for drug burden that is associated with
functional impairment in older people. She is continuing her
laboratory studies on the ageing liver as a part time research
associate.
This work on the ageing liver and lipid metabolism is
complemented by the PhD project of Mimi Saba. This
project explores the relationship between ageing and the
intracellular trafficking of ApoE, a protein important in lipid
metabolism that plays a role in the regulation of circulating
lipids. Earlier research by our group indicated that hepatic
apoE expression changes with advancing age. However, the
intracellular trafficking of apoE is poorly understood,
particularly the effects of oxidative stress on this process, an
important mediator of the ageing process, are ill-defined.
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Oxidative stress and the sinusoidal
endothelium
J Khan, M Muller, V Cogger, D Le Couteur
In June, 2005 Jameel Khan concluded his studies for the
MB BS (Honours) degree with us. His thesis topic was the
‘Effect of oxidative stress on isolated sinusoidal endothelial
cells’. He was able to demonstrate that low level oxidative
stress directly causes a reduction in the diameter of liver
endothelial cell fenestrae and that this observation
correlated with the availability of intracellular ATP. An
important finding was that antioxidant enzymes provided a
degree of protection against oxidant-induced defenestration,
which suggests that age-related defenestration may be
amenable to therapeutic intervention.

Models of the Ageing Liver: Diabetes and
Caloric Restriction
H Jamieson, D Abernethy (Johns Hopkins University, USA),
R De Cabo (National Institute of Ageing, USA), V Cogger, D
Le Couteur, R Fraser

also been established that treatment of some tumours with
anti-neoplastic agents result in a small population of cells
becoming senescent rather than dying. A distinguishing
feature of these induced cells is that they can eventually
emerge from the senescent state to resume replication and
tumour growth. Consequently, an understanding of the
mechanisms associated with the induction of, and
emergence from, cellular senescence is vital for an
understanding of how organs and tissues age and for
effective anti-tumour therapy.
In vivo studies of senescent cell behaviour are difficult
because these cells do not develop in a predictable or
uniform manner. Current procedures for producing these
cells in vitro are also associated with difficulties and result
in a mixed population of normal, senescent and apoptotic
cells. A rapid single-step procedure for producing high yield
senescent cells that display stable morphological and
biochemical characteristics and synchronised emergence
behaviour has been produced. Studies on the functional
characteristics of these cells are currently underway. In
other studies, we have produced evidence that cellular
senescence is an important element in the suppression of
tumour cell growth by polyphenols, a group of compounds
common in fruit and vegetables.

Hamish Jamieson commenced his PhD studies in July
2004 and is investigating two models of modified ageing,
diabetes and caloric restriction. Diabetes is associated with
an oxidant/antioxidant imbalance resulting in oxidative
stress, which is strongly associated with ageing and ageing
with hepatic defenestration. Consequently, he began
exploring the hypothesis that diabetic animals defenestrate
at an earlier age than healthy animals. Initial results from a
comparative study of young and old diabetic and healthy
animal livers have confirmed this hypothesis.
A second model of modified ageing is calorie restriction,
which has been shown, in many species, to delay agerelated changes and extend lifespan. In collaboration with
the US National Institute of Ageing, this project compares
age-related changes in the liver sieve of normal and calorie
restricted animals. Initial results suggest that calorie
restriction delays age-related changes to the liver sieve.

Cellular senescence
M Muller, D Le Couteur
Normal cells undergo a finite number of mitotic divisions
before reaching a stage where they are no longer able to
divide, i.e. replicative senescence. In contrast, some cells
develop genomic changes that enable them to evade
senescence and these ultimately progress to become
tumour cells with an indefinite proliferative capacity. More
recently, it has been found that young primary cell isolates
can be forced into a senescent state, or premature
senescence, similar to that of replicative senescence. It has

Anticlockwise: Mimi Saba, David Le Couteur, Sarah Hilmer, Aless Warren,
Hamish Jamieson, Raj Cheluvappa, Jennifer O’Reilly, Michael Muller

BONE BIOLOGY
Group Leader Professor Markus Seibel
Senior Scientists: Dr Colin Dunstan, Dr Julie Blair, Dr Hong
Zhou
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Inhibition of bone repair during breast
cancer metastasis to bone
C Dunstan, Y Zheng, K Wong, H Zhou, M Seibel

Staff and Students
Karen Brennan, Marta Koslowska, Anna Lih, Mystie Mak,
Keely McNamara, James Modzelewski, Karen Wong, Dr Yu
Zheng
The Bone Research Program pursues research in basic
bone biology, applied bone metabolism and clinical
research in metabolic bone disease. It is actively developing
and evaluating transgenic models of bone disease.
The program attracted Dr Julie Blair, from the Oncology
Research Centre at the Prince of Wales Hospital, to join the
group at the beginning of 2005 to work in research projects
in breast cancer metastasis, bringing with her extensive
experience in models of cancer metastasis to bone. Yu
Zheng and Mystie Mak joined the group as PhD students.
A number of exciting and competitive projects are presently
underway or near completion. We established collaborations
with a number of research groups; in Australia, these
include Universities of New South Wales, Melbourne,
Adelaide and Brisbane: internationally, Columbia University,
USA, University of Wurzburg, Germany, Aberdeen
University, UK, University of Basel, Switzerland. We have
built research partnerships through attracting visiting
scientists, and industry links through research partnerships
with Amgen, Aventis Pharma, Merck, Sharp & Dohme,
Roche Pharmaceuticals and Novo Nordisk. Our research is
supported through funding from within Australia and from
overseas.
This year’s meeting of the Australian and New Zealand
Bone and Mineral Society (ANZBMS) was extremely
successful for our group. We received one of two
Outstanding Abstract Awards, which acknowledge the two
highest ranked abstracts out of 170 submitted. We had five
oral presentations and two outstanding poster awards. All
this indicates that our young group has now established a
place in the Australian science community.
We plan to further develop a comprehensive research
program that makes use of the many opportunities provided
by a multidisciplinary institution such as the ANZAC
Research Institute, to intensify collaborations with both
basic and clinical research groups locally, and to extend our
research efforts to other areas relevant to bone biology and
disease.

A University of Sydney Cancer Research Fund Grant allows
us to evaluate the low level of repair associated with breast
cancer metastases. Breast cancer metastases cause lytic
effects predominately that despite extensive bone
destruction without the usual coupled bone formation. As a
result, bones are weakened and break more easily causing
painful fractures and other damage. This study will assess
the ability of cancer cells to inhibit osteoblast function in
vitro with co-culture techniques and in vivo through
dynamic assessment of the effects of bone metastases on
local and systemic bone formation.

Preventing the spread of malignant tumours
to bone
Y Zheng, J Blair, H Zhou, M Seibel, C Dunstan
Both breast and prostate cancers have particular
preference to form cancer metastases in bone. Breast
cancer in bone is associated with bone destruction that
frequently results in significant pain and disability, whilst
prostate cancer in bone induces high rates of bone
formation and bone resorption, resulting in disorganisation
of bone structure and severe pain.
Bone provides a "fertile soil" for breast and prostate cancer
cells that have moved from the original cancer site. Tumour
cells grow in bone and induce normal bone resorbing and
bone forming cells of bone marrow to destroy the
surrounding hard bone. This destruction releases factors
that help cancer cells grow faster, thus creating a vicious
cycle that contributes to the serious consequences of bone
metastases. We are studying mice with transplanted breast
cancer cells to understand what makes the bone marrow a
receptive site for such metastasis. We are manipulating
bone remodelling rates in mice see how this impacts the
ability of circulating cancer cells to target bone and to
establish destructive tumours there. The response of the
tumour to these changes in bone cell activity is being
assessed at the cellular and molecular levels.
Other studies with prostate cancer derived cell lines are
assessing relationships between bone resorption and
tumour growth in mice.
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Glucocorticoid induced changes in bone
metabolism
H Zhou, M Mak, K McNamara, C Dunstan, M Seibel
Glucocorticoids (GC) have proven to be of great benefit to
countless patients suffering from diseases such as
rheumatoid arthritis, asthma, inflammatory bowel disease
and malignancies, and after organ transplantation. However
GC may also exert deleterious effects on bone causing
osteoporosis.
We are using a novel transgenic mouse model to study the
effects of GC treatment on bone. The transgene carried by
these mice results in a local inactivation of GC in the bone
forming cells, the osteoblasts, by directing these cells to
produce an enzyme known as 11beta hydroxysteroid
dehydrogenase, normally found in the kidney. It allows us to
separate those effects on bone due to direct action of GC on
the osteoblasts from indirect effects like reduced calcium
absorption in the gut.
We are studying the contribution of factors such as gender,
age and diet to GC-induced bone loss and examining the
role of endogenous GC in bone damage caused by
inflammation and arthritis. We are investigating an observed
delay in the development of the skeleton in newborn mice
where cells isolated from these mice have reduced ability to
make bone. These studies hope to point the way to
strategies for the reversal or even prevention of the
detrimental effects of cortisone on the skeleton.

Study into the genetic determinants of bone
loss and osteoporosis in an affected family
C Meier, M Koslowska, M Kennerson, G Nicholson, MJ
Seibel
Osteoporosis is a common and complex disorder, where the
total amount of bone is reduced. Treatments are currently
limited in effectiveness and newer drugs are needed so that
finding new therapeutic targets is a high priority.
Although multiple environmental factors are involved in the
pathogenesis of osteoporosis, genes play a major role as
reflected by heritability of many components of bone
strength. The common form of osteoporosis is a polygenic
disorder arising from the interaction of common
polymorphic alleles at many loci. However, recent reports
show a major gene pattern of BMD inheritance in various
ethnic populations. Identification of major genes
contributing to osteoporosis would useful in assessment of
risk in individuals.

In collaboration with Northcott Neurobiology Laboratory we
are studying a large family with an autosomal dominant
inheritance pattern of low bone mineral density. DNA
samples and clinical data have been obtained from this
extensive family and results are being examined to
determine the best approach for identification of candidate
genes.

Studies on biochemical markers of bone
metabolism
C Meier, J Modzelewski, M Seibel, D Handelsman, P Liu, P
Sambrook (Royal North Shore Hospital), K Ho (Garvan
Institute), J Wark (University of Melbourne)
Bone formation and bone resorption keep bone alive,
healthy and strong and are both compromised in metabolic
bone disease. Recently specific bone markers in urine and
blood have been discovered. Many clinicians are now using
bone markers to assess the severity of bone di¬seases,
such as osteoporosis, and to monitor their treatment. Given
this success, we are seeking to refine and identify new and
improved markers of bone turnover.
We are collaborating with a several research groups to
evaluate bone turnover in a variety of settings. These
include in the very elderly, associated with androgens in
men, in association with growth hormone and androgens in
elite athletes, with anti-epileptic drugs, smoking and other
factors.

Studies into the influence of serum
testosterone levels and its longitudinal
changes on different target tissues of
androgen action
C Meier, M Jimenez, J Modzelewski, J Eisman (Garvan
Institute), DJ Handelsman, MJ Seibel
In men, serum testosterone levels decrease progressively
with age. In younger men with low levels of blood
testosterone consequential changes, such as decreased
bone mass and decreased muscle strength, are well known
and rectified with testosterone treatment. The diminished
testosterone levels in older men and those with a variety of
chronic conditions have formed the basis for trials
investigating the effects of testosterone treatment in elderly
men with partial androgen deficiency.
The impact of different degrees of androgen deficiency on
age-related conditions remains unclear. The influence of
longitudinal changes in serum testosterone on the
occurrence of androgen-related diseases is also unknown.
We are particularly interested in the effect of partial
androgen deficiency on musculoskeletal measures, such as
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fractures, rate of bone loss, muscle strength, quality of life
and overall mortality. Again, using the population of elderly
men contained in the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology
Study, we are assessing the impact of androgens on the
physiological role of sex hormones in elderly men and
exploring more effective therapy for osteoporosis in men.

Regulation of osteoblast and adipocyte
differentiation from common precursors
H Zhou, K Brennan, C Dunstan, MJ Seibel
Osteoblasts and adipocytes develop from a common
mesenchymal precursor. Clinical observation suggests an
inverse relationship between these two cell types. Marrow
adipocyte numbers increase while osteoblast numbers
decrease during age-related bone loss or after treatment
with glucocorticoids. In this study, we aim to identify the
factors that control commitment at the branching pointing
between osteoblast and adipocyte differentiation. Knowing
that steroid hormones play an important role in regulating
osteoblast and adipocyte differentiation, we are treating a
common precursor cell line with steroid hormones and have
been able to inhibit adipocyte differentiation and promote
osteoblast differentiation. Further studies are planned to
determine the gene expression profile in this system.

Gene expression studies in osteoblast
differentiation
H Zhou, Prof F Jacob and Dr N Schuetze (University of
Wuerzburg, Germany)
With our collaborators, we plan to conduct microarray and
proteomic studies into signalling between osteoblasts and
osteoblast precursors. We will utilise transgenic mice with
impaired osteoblast formation to identify specific autocrine
and paracrine factors involved in the regulation of osteoblast
differentiation.
Analysis of differences in gene expression between primary
and metastatic tumours.
The predilection of certain cancers, including prostate and
breast cancers, to spread to the skeleton is well-recognised,
however the molecular determinants of this ability are as yet
unknown. In this project, we will use microarray and
proteomic technologies to study the gene expression in
prostate and breast cells to discover what enables their
targeting to the skeleton. In the long-term, we aim to pursue
these novel targets to develop therapeutics directed towards
inhibiting bone metastasis in these cancers.

Left to right: James Modzelewski, Hong Zhou, Colin Dunstan, Keely McNamara, Markus Seibel, Yu Zheng, Julie Blair, Efrat
Monsonego, Mystie Mak
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CONCORD HEALTH AND AGEING
IN MEN PROJECT (CHAMP)

Group Leader: Professor Robert Cumming
Terese Alting, Helen Creasey (CERA), Marina Ether Ingham,
Prof David Handelsman, Maggie Hayes, Dr Cindy Kok,
Janice Kohl, Melissa Litchfield, Diane Pinkerton, Tamara
Rubaric, Prof Phillip Sambrook (Royal North Shore
Hospital), Prof Markus Seibel, Dr Anita Sharma, Sue Todd,
Louise Waite (CERA)
CHAMP is a population-based longitudinal study designed
to provide a wide range of new information about the health
of older men. The study is funded by a five year NHMRC
Project grant.
Despite the fact that men who reach the age of 65 still have
much lower life expectancy than women of that age, very
little research has been done on the health of older men.
CHAMP has been designed to fill this gap and is arguably
the world’s most comprehensive study into the health of
older men.
All men involved have blood taken for detailed assessment
of their levels of reproductive hormones, including
testosterone. While it is known that levels of testosterone
decline with age in men, whether or not this decline has any
major adverse effects on health is unknown. CHAMP will
directly address this issue.
Of particular interest are osteoporosis, muscle weakness,
urinary symptoms and dementia. Osteoporosis and fractures
are often thought of as female health problems, yet 30% of
60 year old men will have a fracture of some type during the
remainder of their life. Muscle weakness may be a greater
problem in men than women, with some evidence that men
lose muscle at a faster rate than women as they

grow older. Dementia is probably the most disabling
condition of old age, yet little research has been done on the
special features of dementia in men. CHAMP has a
particular focus on testosterone levels and the aetiology of
Alzheimer’s disease.
Many older men develop lower urinary tract symptoms such
as nocturia, weak stream and dribbling. Furthermore, at
least 15% of men over 65 years have some degree of
urinary incontinence. It is generally believed that urinary
problems in older men are due to their enlarging prostates.
However, the causes are likely to be much more complex.
Urinary function is assessed using a urinary flow metre and
bladder ultrasound to measure post-void residual urine.
Blood is being collected for measurement of Prostate
Specific Antigen (PSA).
About 2,000 men aged 70 years and over who live in the
community in the Concord RG Hospital catchment area will
be recruited into CHAMP. The first men were recruited in
January 2005 and nearly 400 men were involved by June.
Prior to attending the study clinic, subjects complete a
detailed questionnaire. They then spend two to three hours
at the study clinic, where a series of tests are done,
including dual energy x-ray densitometry (DEXA) to
measure bone, fat and lean mass; the Addenbrooke’s
Cognitive Examination; tests of muscle strength, balance
and gait; and spirometry. Blood tests include assays for
reproductive hormones, vitamin D, PTH, and markers of
bone turnover. Blood is being stored for DNA testing. Most
of the baseline interview and examinations will be repeated
after two years.

Back left to right: Melisa Litchfield, Cindy Kok, Anita Sharma
Front left to right: Bob Cumming, Diane Pinkerton, Maggie Hayes, Sue Todd

NEUROBIOLOGY
Group Leader: Professor Garth Nicholson
Senior Scientists: Dr Marina Kennerson, Dr Simon Myers
Staff and students
Stella Christoudoulou, Alexander Drew, Dr Sumana
Gopinath, Dr Inken Huttner, Drs Cindy Kok, Ben Marshan,
Dagmar Plasmans, Stephen Reddell
The Northcott Neuroscience Laboratory, headed by
Professor Garth Nicholson has an internationally renowned
reputation in the field of molecular genetics of human
hereditary neuropathies. The group continues to make
important contributions in the discovery of gene mutations
causing neurodegeneration of peripheral nerve and motor
neurons. The identification and characterisation of these
genes furthers understanding of the causative mechanisms
of degenerative nerve disease.
The laboratory has two research programs running
concurrently, the gene mapping and discovery program
under the direction of Dr Marina Kennerson, and the cell
biology program under the direction of Dr Simon Myers.
PhD student Cindy Kok, completed her studies on linkage
analysis in axonal neuropathies, graduating in May 2005. Dr
Sumana Gopinath continues her PhD candidature on motor
neuron disease and has been the recipient of numerous
travel awards and the prestigious NSW Motor Neuron
Disease award for her studies. The laboratory has continued
to welcome overseas students. Dagmar Plasmans, a
medical student from the Netherlands, has been examining
the role of chaperone proteins in motor neuron disease
families. This year the laboratory had summer research
students as part of the Sydney University Faculty of
Medicine program. Megan Brewer continued mutation
analysis of genes from the hereditary sensory neuropathy
with gastroesophageal reflux locus on chromosome 3, Tara
Bautista defined the differentiation profile of the dorsal root
ganglia neuron ND15 cell line and Branden Emmerson
discovered changes in the cytoskeleton of neurons
expressing the mutant SPTLC1 gene.

Gene Mapping and discovery program
S Christoudoulou, A Drew, S Gopinath, I Huttner, M
Kennerson, C Kok, B Marshan, D Plasmans, G Nicholson, S
Reddell

Inherited peripheral neuropathies
Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy is the most common group
of human hereditary disorders. The syndrome is a disorder
of peripheral nerve affecting both motor and sensory
neurons. This year we have identified the gene causing
dominant intermediate CMT (DI-CMTB) on chromosome 19
and mapped the locus for an X-linked form of CMT
(CMTX3).
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In collaboration with Dr S Zuchner and Dr J Vance of Duke
University, North Carolina, and Dr Vincent Timmerman of
University of Antwerp, Belgium, we identified mutations in
the dynamin 2 (Dyn2) gene in all families mapping to the
DI-CMTB locus on chromosome 19. Dyn2 is a large GTPase
involved with receptor mediated endocytosis (RME) and
interestingly, the gene mutations identified occurred in a
part of the protein responsible for targeting dynamin 2 to
sites of RME. This work was reported in Nature Genetics
and has revealed exciting new perspectives for
understanding how peripheral nerves degenerate in these
genetic disorders. Work is continuing to characterise the
mutations in lymphoblast and neuronal cell lines. Such
information may provide important new clues for
understanding dementia as well.
Approximately 15% of all CMT is inherited on the X
chromosome. The most common form of X-linked CMT
(CMTX1) is caused by mutations in the connexion 32
(Cx32) gene. Dr Inken Huttner, a visiting research fellow
from Germany, studied a large Cx32-negative family with Xlinked inheritance and mapped the locus in this family to a
5.7 megabase interval on chromosome Xq26.3-q27.1.
Fourteen genes within the region have been screened and
excluded for a pathogenic role in CMTX3. Work is
continuing to screen the remaining genes and characterise
partial transcripts mapping to the region. The discovery of
this gene will reveal mechanisms causing degeneration of
long nerves. Finding new mechanisms of length dependent
axonal degenerations may provide insights relevant to other
neurodegenerative disorders.

Motor Neuron Disease (MND)
The genetic forms of hereditary motor neurone disorders
range from rapidly progressive disease such as Lou Gehrig’s
disease to slowly progressive forms such as that affecting
the famous astronomer Stephen Hawking. Work done by
PhD student Sumana Gopinath aims to identify new
mutated genes responsible for disorders affecting motor
neurones using genetic linkage studies in families with
motor neuron disease.
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is an adult onset
neurodegenerative disorder characterised by death of motor
neurones in the brain and spinal cord causing progressive
muscle weakness, atrophy and death. The first gene
discovered for familial ALS is the superoxide dismutase 1
(SOD1) gene. This gene mutation is the most common
mutation seen in about ten percent of families. We have
been recruiting families for genetic studies over the past ten
years. In our familial ALS database, we have more than 150
families. In small families we are collecting DNA from the
spouses and children of affected individuals to reconstruct
the genetic information from deceased family members.
Hereditary motor neuropathies (HMN) have been given
different names because they are slowly progressive, nonfatal disorders of motor neurones with onset in the first or
second decades but the same underlying mechanisms may
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cause all these disorders. Finding genes causing the slowly
progressive motor neurone disorders can be achieved more
easily because larger numbers of living affected individuals
can be found in any one family. A large HMN family is
currently undergoing a whole genome scan to map the
chromosomal location of its disease. Finding more genes
causing motor neuron disorders may help to define
pathways causing premature death of motor neurons and
may lead to new development of drugs to prevent and treat
motor neuron disease.

Cell biology research program
S Myers, A Drew, B Marshan, G Nicholson, P Robinson
(Children’s Medical Research Institute (CMRI), C Malladi
(CMRI)
The past year has been extremely productive for the Cell
Biology Research Program. We have made significant
advances in a number of project areas, which has enabled
us to establish a number of fruitful national collaborations.
The major objective in our projects is to investigate and
understand the functional cellular and molecular
mechanisms of these neurodegenerative diseases.

Dominant Intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth Neuropathy
Mutations have been identified in the dynamin 2 (Dyn2)
that cause dominant-intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth (DICMTB) syndrome, an autosomal hereditary neuropathy. To
determine the effect of the mutant protein on cellular
mechanisms, DI-CMTB patient lymphoblast cells were
stained with dyn2 antibody. Altered intracellular localisation
was observed and with our collaborators, we have shown
the mutation causes blocking of receptor mediated
endocytosis. We propose that this gain of function is a
causative mechanism leading to DI-CMTB neuropathy.

Hereditary Sensory Neuropathy
Hereditary sensory neuropathy type 1 (HSN1) is one of the
most common and best characterised form of peripheral
sensory neuron degeneration. Clinically it is characterised
by loss of pain sensation, muscle wasting and weakness.
Mutations in the serine palmitoyltransferase long chain
subunit 1 (SPTLC1) protein cause HSN1. Pilot studies
overexpressing the mutant SPTLC1 gene in human
neuronal cells showed altered localisation of the SPTLC1
and changes to the actin cytoskeleton Further investigations
will elucidate how these changes attribute to neuronal cell
dysfunction in this neurodegenerative disease. Another
exciting area for this program was the successful
construction and generation of the HSN1 transgenic
mouse. We are currently expanding this colony and will
commence characterisation of these animals for the HSN1
phenotype.

Back left to right: Jayamala Parmar, Alex Drew, Megan Brewer, Ian Blair, Garth Nicholson, Simon Myers
Front left to right: Sumana Gopinath, Marina Kennerson, Annette Berriman, Mary Jenkins, Danqing Zhu, Ann Aziz, Helen
Anderson

VASCULAR BIOLOGY
Group Leader: Professor Ben Freedman

Oxidative stress

Senior Researchers: Dr Paul Witting, Dr Aisling McMahon,
Associate Professor Len Kritharides, Dr Harry Lowe, Dr
David Brieger

L Kritharides, G Lau, M Saba, T Chung

Staff and students
Vicky Benson, Dr Rav Bhindi, Dr Tommy Chung, Hong
Duong, Dr Natasha Ellis, Dr George Lau, Ben Rayner, Mimi
Saba, Ying Shen, Dr Changjie Song, Dr Alice Tiong, Dr Biao
Zeng
In the past two years this group has built up its physical
presence to sixteen people primarily working in the
laboratory including three new postdoctoral scientists, and
another five with clinical and laboratory responsibilities. This
mix of basic and clinical science is a feature of the group,
allowing us to conduct research into clinically important
disorders of the heart and blood vessels in both
experimental models and patients with coronary heart
disease. We were fortunate in recruiting an accomplished
ARC career researcher, Dr Paul Witting, to be the senior
scientist, and he has already established collaborations with
all members of the vascular biology group. As an example
of this, he has analysed blood from heart attack patients
treated by our clinician scientists and demonstrated the
presence of the abnormal heart protein he had predicted
would be formed following balloon and stent placement for
heart attack. The group has a range of research interests
outlined below, with a focus in three areas; vascular and
heart muscle injury by oxidation or intervention,
inflammation and thrombosis, and atherosclerosis.

Heart attack and stroke
P Witting, B Rayner, N Ellis, H Duong
Our general interest includes ischemic injury to the heart
attack and brain attack or stroke. Our main research thrust
involves design and testing of potential inhibitors of damage
to myocardial and neuronal tissues in the setting of acute
heart or stroke. This research has gained funding from a
variety of sources including philanthropic and mainstream
government bodies. One research highlight over the last
year was the award of a nationally competitive Heart
Foundation Research Scholarship for Ben Rayner to
undertake postgraduate studies with Paul Witting as
supervisor. Hong Duong who is currently completing her
Honours degree at the ANZAC Research Institute will also
enrol for further postgraduate studies in 2006. Importantly,
Dr Natasha Ellis who has only recently joined the group
brings significant molecular expertise that will benefit our
research projects.
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This group has of three PhD students whose subjects
involve close collaboration with affiliated departments. Dr
George Lau is completing a clinical PhD cosupervised by Dr
Ridley in Radiology investigating CT angiography, and its
potential to study coronary artery bypass graft disease. He
has identified that vein graft thickening occurs very early
after cardiac surgery and is related to the presence of
preoperative diabetes. Mimi Saba, jointly supervised by
Professor Le Couteur of the Biogerontology laboratory, is
investigating the fate of apoE in hepatocytes, particularly
investigating the effects of ageing and oxidative stress. She
has found that there is altered trafficking of apoE under
these conditions, and that this may contribute to altered
cellular apoE distribution found in vivo. Dr Tommy Chung is
mid-way through a PhD investigating reversible myocardial
dysfunction caused by commonly used chemotherapy. His
project involves collaboration with Dr Ilona Cunningham of
Haematology at Concord RG Hospital and results so far
suggest a surprisingly frequent incidence of silent cardiac
injury.

Myocardial infarction, ischemia reperfusion
injury and therapies
H Lowe, A McMahon, V Benson, R Bhindi
This group was strengthened in 2005 with the additions of
postdoctoral scientist, Dr Aisling McMahon and PhD
candidate, Vicky Benson, from the Victor Chang Cardiac
Research Institute. The group’s principal research focus is
in the gene expression and modification of vascular and
myocardial injury. Specifically, the contexts of neo-intimal
formation or thickening of the wall following vein graft and
native coronary injury, and myocardial ischemia-reperfusion
injury, injury from blockage of blood vessels followed by
restoration of blood flow are being examined. Using a
number of laboratory experimental animal models we are
investigating the use of DNAzyme and other novel genetargeting approaches to inhibit these injury responses.

Inflammation and fibrinolysis
D Brieger A Tiong, B Zeng, P Witting
In these areas our group has two main research directions.
Firstly, inflammatory mechanisms in acute coronary
syndromes including heart attack. The current understanding
of heart attack and other acute coronary syndromes (ACS)
is that these are initiated by thinning and breakdown of the
wall of coronary artery plaques by metalloproeinases,
enzymes that digest the material in the plaque cap. Our
studies over the last 12 months have identified a
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relationship between circulating levels of matrix
metalloproteinase 9, a potential mediator of plaque
instability in acute coronary syndromes and acutely
activated T cells but not activated neutrophils. This work
adds to the weight of evidence suggesting that
inflammation, through evocation of the adaptive immune
response, plays an important role in this condition.
Consistent with this theme we have studied an important
type of inflammatory cell, an oligoclonal population of NK T
cells, CD3+CD28-, known to be elevated in ACS, and found
they correlate with chronic T cell activation. This provides
insights in to the derivation of this population of potentially
pathogenic cells and their relation to chronic inflammation.
Our second area of interest is alternative mediators of
fibrinolysis or dissolving blood clots. Using the plasminogen
knockout mouse as a model, we have identified increased
fibrinolytic activity in the neutrophils of mice deficient in
plasminogen. The fibrinolytic proteases of these cells are
being identified. Studies in parallel have isolated several
circulating proteases that also have lytic activity in these
knockout animals. These enzymes are being further
characterised and identified. The goal of this work is to
provide insights into novel mechanisms of dissolving the
blood clots that lead to heart attacks.

Inflammation and haemostasis
B Freedman, C Song, Ying Shen
The main thrust of research in this area is to define
mechanisms whereby inflammation can lead to coronary
thrombosis. We have already shown that C-reactive protein
(CRP), an acute phase inflammation marker that appears to
predict death or infarction in both normal populations and
those with coronary artery disease, can stimulate blood
monocytes to produce tissue factor, the most powerful
initiator of coagulation. The responsiveness of blood
monocytes from patients with coronary artery disease to
CRP stimulation is significantly higher than in normal
controls. In this way CRP is not just a marker of
inflammation, but may also play a role in the initiation of
adverse events in patients with coronary artery disease. We
also have preliminary data to show that serum Amyloid A
(SAA), another acute phase marker of inflammation, is a
stronger and more rapid stimulator of blood monocytes than
CRP, and again, monocytes from patients with symptomatic
coronary artery disease produce more tissue factor than
normal controls, suggesting this molecule may play a role in
atherosclerosis and its complications. We are further
investigating the mechanism whereby SAA is both proinflammatory and pro-thrombotic, and will soon extend our
studies to monocyte derived macrophages, inflammatory
cells which are present in atherosclerotic coronary artery
vessel walls and appear important in acute coronary
syndromes, including heart attack, and sudden coronary
death. The group is in longstanding collaboration with Prof
Carolyn Geczy of University of New South Wales with these
projects.

Left to right: Eric Yamen, Aisling McMahon, Chiangjie Song, Alice Tiong, Paul Witting, Mimi Saba, Vicky Benson, Sarah Parry, and
Tommy Chung

VIETNAM VETERAN’S
HEALTH STUDY
Group Leader: Dr Brian O’Toole
Staff and collaborators
Prof Stan Catts (University of Queensland), Dr Jill Cockburn
(University of Newcastle), Kate Pierse
This study involves an epidemiological cohort study of a
random sample of 1,000 Australian Army Vietnam veterans,
examining the long term health effects of war zone
exposures and experiences in combat veterans. It began in
the late 1980s, based at Westmead and Concord RG
Hospitals, and collected data from veterans from 19901993. This current study is collecting data from 2005-06
and is concerned with all aspects of health. It is using
assessment instruments that are standardized and have
national norms to allow comparison of veterans with the
background male population.
The Australian Institute of Heath and Welfare has
conducted a search of the National Death Index on behalf
of the study to determine the mortality rate in the cohort. Of
the original 1,000, eight died in Vietnam, and a further 112
were found to have died since return. This gives a post-war
mortality rate of 11.29%. Risk factors for mortality so far
emerging from analysis indicate that the deceased are more
likely to have been regular soldiers rather than National
Servicemen, to have enlisted in earlier years, to have been
older in Vietnam, to have served longer in the Army before
Vietnam and overall, to have had higher ranks and have
been older at discharge.
Since the veterans reside throughout Australia, interviews
are being conducted in veterans’ homes or worksites.
Interviewers associated with the Vietnam Veterans
Counselling Service and with the National Centre for
Veteran and Military Health, are located in most states with
our investigators travelling to conduct rural assessments.
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Each takes an average of four hours and consists of
licensed interviews used by the Australian Bureau of
Statistics (ABS) to assess physical and mental health,
including a clinical assessment of post traumatic stress
disorder (PTSD).
Analysis from the previous study pointed the way to later
findings. It was found that PTSD was related specifically to
disorders such as asthma, eczema, arthritis, which concurs
with published finding that traumatic exposure may affect
immune system via changes in the hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenal axis. Subsequent refinements in the ABS medical
history questionnaire will enable this association to be
tested with more precision. The data are rolling in and
collection is expected to be complete by mid-2006 for the
next phase of data analysis.
The previous study also revealed a large untreated
population of men with PTSD for whom the lifetime
prevalence was 20.1%. Looking at the first 120 cases of
men in this current study, it appears that the lifetime
prevalence is above 50%. For those some men who after
the war ‘just got on with it’, positions of responsibility have
combined with workplace stresses causing spectacular
breakdowns in later life; whilst other veterans remain
undamaged and in healthy mid-life. Those with most serious
wounds are reaping the consequences of an angry life of
alcohol and penury and passing this down to their children.
Recent funding from the Australian Rotary Health Research
Foundation will expand this study to include veterans’ wives
using the same data collection procedures but conducting
interviews via the telephone. This year an application for
funding to include veterans’ children will be lodged to
provide unique information on the effects of war service on
veterans’ families.

Brian O’Toole with Kate Pierse and Angus
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STAFF & STUDENTS 2004 - 2005

Scientific Staff
Scientific Program Leaders
Professor Stephen Clarke MB BS, PhD FRACP, FAChPM
Professor Bob Cumming MB BS, MPH, PhD, FAFPHM
Professor Ben Freedman MB BS, FRACP, FACC, FESC,
PhD
Professor David Handelsman MB BS, PhD, FRACP
Professor David Le Couteur MB BS, PhD, FRACP
Professor Garth Nicholson MB BS, PhD
Dr Brian O’Toole PhD, MPH
Professor Markus Seibel MD, PhD, FRACP
Clinical Research Associates
Associate Professor David Brieger MB BS, FRACP, PhD
Associate Professor Ann Conway MB BS, FRACP
Associate Professor Len Kritharides, MB BS, FRACP,
FAHA, PhD
Research Fellowships
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr

Harry Lowe MB BS, FRACP, FACC, PhD
Peter Liu MB BS, FRACP PhD
Christian Meier MD (Switzerland)
Paul Witting PhD

Principal Research Fellow
Dr Colin Dunstan PhD
Associate Professor Jillian Kril PhD
Associate Professor Graham Robertson PhD
Senior Research Fellow
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr

Charles Allan PhD
Julie Blair PhD
Marina Kennerson PhD
Michael Muller MA, PhD
Aisling McMahon PhD
Simon Myers Dip Ed, PhD
Patsie Polly PhD
Hong Zhou MD (China), PhD

Project Managers
Karen Brennan MSc
Melisa Litchfield BAppSc, MPH
James Modzelewski BSc, Ass Dip Chem, Cert Art
Direction & Copywriting

Research Scientists
Dr Victoria Cogger PhD
Dr Natasha Ellis PhD
Kaye Griffiths AM, AMS, DMU, RN
Dr Sarah Hilmer BSc (Hons), MB BS, FRACP, PhD
Dr Inken Huttner MD (Germany)
Mark Jimenez BSc (Hons)
Dr Cindy Kok DRS (Netherlands) PhD
Dr Andre Mahns PhD
Dr Chiangjie Song MD (China), MSc, PhD
Jenny Spaliviero MSc
Dr Ulla Simanianen PhD
Dr Tim Tan MB BS, PhD
Dr Maria Tsoli PhD
Dr Kirsty Waters PhD
Clinical Research Nurses
Maggie Hayes RN
Marina Etherington RN
Melissa McCulloch BNurs
Dr Sharyn Kelleher RN, BA, PhD
Diane Pinkerton RN
Leo Turner RN
Susan Wishart RN, BA, Grad Dip Counselling
Project Officers
Stella Christodoulou BSc
Dr Lam Ly MD (Vietnam), PhD
Research Assistants
Alex Drew BSc (Hons)
Dr Anna Lih MB BS
Ben Marshan BSc (Hons)
Keely McNamara BSc (Hons)
Kirsten McTavish BSc (Hons)
Kate Pierse BA, MA
Ben Rayner BBioSc (Hons)
Dr Tamara Rubric MD (Austria)
Chris Young BSc (Hons)
Technical Support
Fay Bacha BSc
Irene Di Pierro Dip Path Tech
Sabina Horky
Danny Liske Ass Deg
Janice Koh
Arturo Samcam-Ruiz BAgSc (Nicaragua)
Ljubica Vrga BSc
Matilda Webbey
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Graduate students

Summer Scholars

Vicky Benson MSc
Dr Melissa Baraket MB BS
Dr Ravinay Bhindi MB BS, FRACP
Dr Tommy Chung MB BS
Hariyana Dhillon BSc, MAI (Psych)
Dr Sumana Gopinath MB BS, FRACP
Dr Sarah Hilmer BSc (Hons), MB BS, FRACP
Mary Jenkins RN
Marina Kacevska BSc (Hons)
Sharyn Kelleher RN, BA
Dr Cindy Kok DRS (Netherlands)
Dr George Lau MB BS, FRACP
Patrick Lim BSc (Hons)
Wendy Mak BSc (Hons)
Marko Matic BSc (Hons)
Kirsten McTavish BSc (Hons)
Brian Oliver MSc
Ben Rayner BBioSc (Hons)
Mimi Saba BSc (Hons)
Dr Linda Seeto MB BS
Dr Anita Sharma DSM, AMC, FRACP
Ying Shen MD (China)
Dr Alice Tiong BSc (Hons), MB BS, FRACP
Leo Turner RN
Alessandra Warren MSc
Dr Yu Zheng MD (China)

Tara Bautista
Megan Brewer
Hong Duong
Jacqueline Loyola Echeverria
R Brandon Emmerson
Robert George
Mackenzie Hadi
Phillip Romo

Administrative Staff
Director
Professor David Handelsman

MB BS, PhD, FRACP

General Manager
Christine Harrison

BSc (Hons), FIBMS, Grad Dip Bus, AFACHSE

Manager, Molecular Physiology Unit
Mamdouh Khalil

BSc, Ass Dip Animal Technology

Manager, Transgenic Services
Karen Brennan MSc
Accounts
Annet Doss

Dip Acc, Dip Comp Prog

Computer Support
Tancred Fergus
Joe Stewart

Undergraduate Students

BA

Office Managers

Filip Bebek
Anthony Corridan
Hong Duong
Jameel Khan
Marta Kozlowska
Dagma Plasmans
Karen Wong

Lydia Andreas BNS
Dianne Quinn JP
Receptionist
Venessa Briffa

Growth at ANZAC Research Institute
Staff/students

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

Program Directors

1

3

5

5

8

8

Post Doctoral Scientists

-

6

9

14

20

28.4

Graduate Students

4

9

17

15

18

29

Scientific & Technical

-

7

11.5

14.5

21

30.7

Administration

1

3.5

4

3.2

3.2

3.2

Total Full Time Equivalent

6

28.5

46.5

51.7

70.2

99.3
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GRANTS & CONTRACTS

Source

Title

Investigators

NHMRC Equipment Grant

Real time PCR with mutation analyser

NHMRC Equipment Grant

Digital stereology system

NHMRC Equipment Grant
Univeristy of Sydney
Major Equipment Grant
University of Sydney
Major Equipment Grant

Bench-top ultrcentrifuge
Scanning electron microscope

Seibel, Nicholson, Handelsman,
Zhou, Kennerson, Dunstan, Allan,
Witting, Kril, Friedman, Muller,
Robertson
Handelsman, Allan, Le Couteur,
Nicholson, Illingworth, Kril
Witting, Handelsman, Muller et al
Le Couteur, Muller, Harris
Handelsman, Seibel, Nicholson
Witting, Lowe, Handelsman,
Le Couteur, Nicholson, Seibel,
Kril, Kritharides, Kennerson

Annual $

ANZAC
Grants

Plate reader and robotic sampler

74,500

54,500
73,200
67,300
45,000

Andrology
Grants
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC

Studies of the paracrine role of Inhibin A/activin A in ovulation
Mechanisms of pro-athergenic effects of androgens in human vascular cells
The role of androgens in female physiology

NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC

Neil Hamilton Fairley Fellowship
Hormonal regulation of Sertoli cell function
The role of FSH in spermatogenesis

Ramaciotti Foundation
Ramaciotti Foundation
University of Sydney

Automatic tissue-processing workstation
Microscope for core digital system
APA Scholarship

Illingworth, Handelsman
Death, Celemajer, Handelsman
Handelsman, Zajac
Illingworth, Allan, McManus
Liu
Allan, Handelsman
Handelsman, Allan
Illingworth, Allan, McManus
Allan
Handelsman, Allan
Kirsten McTavish

37,500
35,000
120,000
64,306
150,000
95,000
30,000
30,000
18,837

Collaborations
BASA Program
Grant, DCITA
Besins International

Identification of potentially undetected androgens derived from marketed
Non androgenic steroids: implications for sports doping (with Heart Research Institute)
The efficacy and safety of DHT in presenting prostate growth in men over 50 years
of age
National Heart Foundation Androgen exposure and its effects on cardio vascular disease in men
(with Heart Research Institute)
administered by Heart
Research institute
WADA
Detection of recombinant human LH as a doping agent
WADA
Bioassay-based screening and detection of novel designer androgens

Death, Handelsman
Handelsman
Death, Celermajer, Handelsman

Handelsman
Handelsman

32,750
410,891
25,000

101,325
61,625

Biogerontology
Grants
Ageing and Alzheimer’s
Research Foundation
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
NHMRC
University of Sydney

Travelling Scholarships 4
Dora Lush Postgraduate Scholarship
Postgraduate Medical Scholarship
Geriatric pharmacology
The Ageing live and lipoproteins

Cogger, Jamieson, Muller, Saba

Alessandra Warren
Sarah Hilmer
McLean, Le Couteur
Le Couteur, Fraser, Sullivan,
McLean
The effect of hepatic pseudocapillarisation of old age on the disposition
Le Couteur, Fraser, Sullivan,
of chylomicron
McLean
Postgraduate Medical Scholarship
Hamish Jamieson
Mechanisms of ageing changes in the hepatic sinusoid
Le Couteur, Muller, Fraser
Cogger, Harris, Sullivan
How is lipoprotein disposition influence by fenestrae in hepatic sinusoidal epithelium? Le Couteur, Cogger, Fraser,
Sullivan
Faculty of Medicine Travelling Scholarship
Cogger

7,600
21,853
28,432
55,000
65,000
65,000
28,432
135,917
51,000
5,000
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Source

Title

Investigators

Annual $

Lifestyle of our kids (LOOK): a longitudinal study
Bone Resorption in breast cancer metastasis
BioFirst Award
Equipment grant
Postdoctoral Fellowship
Candidate gene study between different hormone receptor gene polymorphines
and bone mineral density and turnover in adult men
APA Scholarship
Bone metastases and inhibition of skeletal repair

Bass, Daly, Seibel, Norton
Dunstan, Seibel, Zhou, Blair
Seibel, Handelsman
Dunstan
Meier
Meier, Seibel, Handelsman,
Eisman
Yu Zheng
Seibel, Dunstan

OPG and RANKL in bisphosphonate therapy & Jobson family genetic study
Managing oesteoporosis in patients presenting with minimal trauma fracture
Determinants in bone turnover in man
Ibandronate in bone metastasis
Defining interactions between anabolic and peptide hormones: requirements
for a robust test for growth hormone doping (US $400,000)

Seibel, Meier, Dunstan
Seibel
Meier
Seibel, Dunstan
Ho, Kazlauskas, Handelsman, Irie

32,351
50,000
55,980
42,074
45,000

Establishment of a centre for the preclinical, clinical, pharmacokinetic and
pharmacogenetic evaluation of cancer drug, nutritional interventions and
complimentary therapies
Repression of hepatic drug metabolism by solid tumours
APA Scholarship
APA Scholarship
APA Scholarship

Clarke, McLachlam, Robertson
Liddle

47,500

Robertson, Clarke
Marko Matic
Anthony Corradin
Filip Bebek

90,500
9,418

NHMRC

Concord Health and Ageing Men Project (CHAMP)

NHMRC Equipment Grant

Bone densitometer for CHAMP study

Cumming, Handelsman, Seibel,
Creasey, Sambrook, Waite
Cumming, Handelsman, Seibel,

APA Scholarship
Possible shortcut of finding a new drug for therapy in MND

Sumana Gopinath
Dedov, Nicholson

18,446
14,500

Finding new pathogenic genes effecting motor neurones

Gopinath, Nicholson, Kennerson

11,500

Finding the gene for hereditary motor and sensory neuropathy with pyramidal signs
Molecular genetics of hereditary motor and sensory neuropathy with pyramidal signs
Finding the gene defects causing motor neurone disease
CMT with pyramidal signs

Nicholson,
Nicholson,
Nicholson,
Nicholson,

75,000
75,000
6,000
15,000

Identifying new gene mutations for motor neurone disease (US $49,071)
Consrtuction and characterisation of hereditary sensory neuropathy type 1
transgenic mouse (US $135,373)
Investigating genetic factors in the causation of motor neuron disease: role of
chaperone proteins

Kennerson, Nicholson
Nicholson, Allan, Kennerson,
Pollard
Nicholson, Kennerson

Bone Biology
Grants
Commonwealth Institute
NHMRC
NSW health
Rebecca Cooper
Swiss National Foundation
Swiss National Foundation
and Roche Foundation
University of Sydney
University of Sydney

60,000
70,000
100,000
9,026
32,500
51,516
18,866
42,000

Collaborations
Aventis Pharma
Aventis Pharma
Merck Sharp and Dohme
Roche Pharma
World Anti-Doping Agency
(Australian-Japanese
Consortium)

Cancer Pharmacology
Grants
Cancer Institute

NHMRC
University of Sydney
UNSW
UNSW

2,000

CHAMP
Grants
360,000
193,000

Neurobiology
Grants
DEST/University of Sydney
Motor Neurone Diease
Research Institute of
Australia
Motor Neurone Diease
Research Institute of
Australia
NHMRC
NHMRC
Rebecca L Cooper
University of Sydney
Near Miss Grant
USA ALS
USA Muscular Dystrophy
Association
Rotary Club of NSW

Kennerson
Kennerson
Kennerson
Kennerson

14,808
46,001
13,500
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GRANTS & CONTRACTS

Source

Title

Investigators

Annual $

Vascular Biology
Grants
ARC Discovery Grant
ARC Discovery Grant

Novel vitamin E analogues with enhanced specificity for malignant cells
Biochemical properties of S-nitrosomyoglobin and its role in regulating nitric
oxide bioavailability
Bushell Foundation
What role for the oxygen carrying neuroglobin in the pathogenesis of stroke?
Cass Foundation
Can an inhibitor of hypoxia-derived oxidative stress decrease the damaging
effects of stroke?
Concord Clinical Week Prize Role of neuroglobin in stroke
Contributing to Australian CASS Travel Award
Scholarships and Science
(CASS)
DEST/University of Sydney APA Scholarship
DEST/University of Sydney APA Scholarship
DEST/University of Sydney APA Scholarship
National Heart Foundation Vacation Scholarship
National Heart Foundation PhD Scholarship: Role of myoglobin in myocardial is chemia reperfusion injury
National Heart Foundation Post Graduate Medical Scholarship
National Heart Foundation Post Graduate Medical Scholarship
NHMRC
Clinical fellowship
Pfizer CVL Grant
Characterisation of plaque instability in patients with symptomatic
vein graft atherosclerosis
Pfizer CVL Grant
MMP after primary coronary intervention
Ramaciotti Foundation
Nitric oxide electrode
University of Sydney
ECR grant
University of Sydney
Veital Clinical Award
University of Sydney
Investigation of a novel neutrophil function and neutrophil-derived fibrinolytic
Research and
proteases in the plasma from plasminogen-deficient mice
development Scheme
Welcome Trust
Upgrade ESP 300 EPR Spectrometer

Neuzil, Witting and Salvatore
Witting
Witting
Witting

5,000
145,000
26,670
17,500

Rayner, Witting
Paul Witting

500
1,600

Mimi Saba
Tommy Chung
Alice Tiong
Duong, Witting
Rayner, Witting
George Lau
Ravinay Bhindi
Harry Lowe
Lowe, Brieger

18,466
18,466
18,466
1,400
10,671
28,000
28,000
43,000
48,650

Tiong, Brieger
Witting
Lowe
Lowe
Witting, Brieger

24,325
11,300
24,106
70,000
38,700

Lay, Kennedy, Davies, Witting

44,000

Vietnam Vets
Grants
NHMRC

Australian Vietnam Veteran’s Health Study: cohort wave 2

O’Toole, Catts, Cockburn, Dunstan 283,625

PUBLICATIONS
Scientific papers

Jimenez M, Spaliviero JA, Grootenhuis AJ,
Verhagen J, Allan CM, Handelsman DJ.

Sikaris K, McLachlan RI, Kazlauskas R, de
Kretser DM, Holden CA, Handelsman DJ.

Andrology

Validation of an ultrasensitive and specific
immunofluorimetric assay for mouse FSH.
Biology of Reproduction 72:78-85, 2005.

Reproductive hormone reference intervals
for healthy fertile young men: evaluation of
automated platform assays. Journal of
Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism,
Epub Aug 23, 90:5928-36, 2005.

Spaliviero JA, Jimenez M, Allan CM,
Handelsman DJ.
LH receptor mediated effects on initiation
of spermatogenesis in gonadotropin
deficient (hpg) mice are replicated by
testosterone. Biology of Reproduction
70:32-8, 2004.

Ly LP, Handelsman DJ.
Empirical estimation of free testosterone
from testosterone and sex hormone binding
globulin immunoassays. European Journal
of Endocrinology 152:471-8, 2005.

AJ,

Aminorroaya A, Kelleher S, Conway AJ, Lam
LP, Handelsman DJ.

Testosterone release rate and duration of
action of testosterone pellet implants.
Clinical Endocrinology 60:420-8, 2004.

Determinants of bone density response to
testosterone replacement in androgen
deficient men. European Journal of
Endocrinology 152:881-6, 2005.

Death AK, McGrath KCY, Sader MA, Nakhla
S, Jessup W, Handelsman DJ, Celermajer DS.

Singh J, Young L, Handelsman DJ, Dong Q.

Kelleher S, Howe
Handelsman DJ.

CJ,

Conway

Dihydrotestosterone promotes VCAM-1
expression in human endothelial cells via a
NF-kappaB
dependent
pathway.
Endocrinology 145:1889-97, 2004.

Molecular cloning and characterization of a
novel androgen repressible gene expressed
in the prostate epithelium. Gene 348:5563, 2005.

Allan CM, Garcia A, Spaliviero JA, Zhang FP,
Jimenez M, Huhtaniemi I, Handelsman DJ.

Holden CA, McLachlan RI, Cumming R,
Wittert G, Handelsman DJ, de Kretser DM,
Pitts M.

Complete Sertoli cell proliferation induced
by follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH)
independently of luteinizing hormone
activity: evidence from genetic models of
isolated FSH action. Endocrinology
145:1587-93, 2004.

Men in Australia, Telephone Survey
(MATeS) I: A national survey of the
reproductive health and concerns of
middle aged and older Australian men.
Lancet 366:218-24, 2005.

Meier C, Liu PY, Ly LP, de WinterModzelewski J, Jimenez M, Handelsman DJ,
Seibel MJ.
Recombinant
human
chorionic
gonadotropin, but not dihydrotestosterone
alone stimulates osteoblastic collagen
synthesis in older men with partial age
related androgen deficiency. Journal of
Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism
89:3033-41, 2004.
Death AK, McGrath KCY, Kazlauskas R,
Handelsman DJ.
Tetrahydrogestrinone is a potent androgen
and progestin. Journal of Clinical
Endocrinology and Metabolism. Journal of
Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism
89:2498-2500, 2004.
Kelleher S, Conway AJ, Handelsman DJ.
Blood testosterone threshold for androgen
deficiency symptoms. Journal of Clinical
Endocrinology and Metabolism 89:3813-7,
2004.
Ng KK, Donat R, Chan L, Lalak A, Di Pierro I,
Handelsman DJ.
Sperm output of older men. Human
Reproduction 19:1811-1815, 2004.
Handelsman DJ.
Temporal trends and regional differences in
testosterone prescribing between 1991 and
2001 in Australia. Medical Journal of
Australia 181:419-22, 2004.
Shetty G, Weng CCY, Bolden-Tiller OU,
Huhtaniemi I, Handelsman DJ, Meistrich ML.

Ly LP, Liu PY, Handelsman DJ.
Rates of suppression and recovery of
human sperm output in testosterone-based
hormonal contraceptive regimens. Human
Reproduction 20:1733-40, 2005.
Singh J, Manickam P, Shmoish M, Natik S,
Denyer G, Handelsman DJ, Gong DW, Dong Q.
Annotation of androgen dependence to
human prostate cancer-associated genes
identified by microarray analysis of mouse
prostate. Cancer Letters, Epub July 14, (in
press).
Wang Y, Newton H, Spaliviero J, Allan C,
Marshan B, Handelsman DJ, Illingworth P.
Gonadotropin control of inhibin secretion
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385:823-830, 2005.
Emmett L, Allman K, Magee M, Trieu J,
Freedman S B, Kritharides L.
The role of Left ventricular hypertrophy and
Diabetes in transient ischemic dilatation of
the left ventricle on myocardial perfusion
Spect imaging. Journal of Nuclear
Medicine 2005 (in press).
Gaus K, Ruberu KR, Gelissen I, Sloane TM,
Kritharides L, Jessup W.
Domain specific lipid distribution in
macrophage plasma membranes. Journal
of Lipid Research 2005 (in press).
Aristoteli L, Moller H, Bailey BP, Moestrup S,
Kritharides L.
The monocyte- macrophage lineagespecific marker CD163 is a plasma marker
of coronary atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis
2005 (in press).
Kritharides L, Yiannikas J, Brieger D, Allman
K.
Coronary uptake of 67-Gallium citrate after
implantation of sirolimus stent. Circulation
109:2156,
2004.
(Images
in
Cardiovascular Medicine).
Lau G, Ridley L, Bannon P, Freedman SB,
Brieger D, Kritharides L.
Preoperative
hypertriglyceridemia
is
associated with early asymptomatic
occlusion of coronary bypass grafts. Heart
2005 (in press).

Book Chapters and Reviews
Andrology
Liu PY, Handelsman DJ.
Hypogonadism in men with chronic renal
failure. Chapter 12 In: Contemporary
Endocrinology: Male Hypogonadism: Basic,
Clinical and Therapeutic Principles,
Winters SJ (eds), Humana Press 225-244,
2004.
Handelsman DJ.
Male
contraception.
In:
DeGroot,
Endocrinology, 5th Edition, W B Saunders,
Philadelphia, 2005.
Allan CM, Handelsman DJ.
In vivo FSH actions. In: Sertoli Cell Biology,
Griswold MD, Skinner MK (eds), Academic
Press, 171-97, 2004.
Liu PY, Handelsman DJ.
Androgen therapy in non-gonadal disease.
In: Testosterone: Action, Deficiency and
Substitution. 3rd edition. Nieschlag E,
Behre HM (eds), Cambridge University
Press, Cambridge, 445-95, 2004.
Behre, HM, Wang, C, Handelsman DJ,
Nieschlag E.
Pharmacology of testosterone preparation.
In: Testosterone: Action, Deficiency and
Substitution. 3rd edition. Nieschlag E,
Behre HM (eds), Cambridge University
Press, Cambridge, 405-44, 2004.
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PUBLICATIONS

Handelsman DJ.

Bone Biology

Reversible hypogonadism: ontogenic
reversion in physiology, pathology and
ageing. In: Hormone Interventions in Adult
Life, Proceedings of the 8th International
HypoCCS Symposium, 2004.

Seibel MJ.

Liu PY, Gooren LJ, Handelsman DJ.
Male sexual dysfunction in systemic
disease. In: Male Sexual Dysfunction:
Pathophysiology and Treatment, Kandeel F,
Lue T, Swerdloff R, Pryor J (ed), Marcel
Dekker 2004.
Handelsman DJ.
Ageing in the Hypothalamic-Pituitary
Testicular Axis. In: Knobil and Neill:
Physiology of Reproduction, Neill JD (ed),
3rd edition, 2005.
Meier C, Liu PY, Seibel MJ, Handelsman DJ.
Sex steroids and skeletal health in men. In:
Lane N & Sambrook P (ed), Osteoporosis
and the Osteoporosis of Rheumatic
Diseases, 2005.
Handelsman DJ.
Andro and the pro-steroids: bolting the
stable door. Invited Editorial. Journal of
Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism
90:1249-51, 2005.
Handelsman DJ, Zajac JD.
Androgen deficiency and replacement
therapy. Invited review. Practice Essentials
Series. Medical Journal of Australia
180:529-35, 2004.
Handelsman DJ.
Designer androgens in sport: when too
much is never enough (invited review).
Science’s STKE PE41, 2004 (www.stke.org).
Handelsman DJ, Liu PY.

Bone metabolism, mineral homeostasis
and its pharmacological modulation.
Clinical Laboratory 50: 255-64, 2004.
Dunstan CR, Zhou H, Seibel MJ.
Fibroblast
growth
factor
23:
a
phosphatonin
regulating
phosphate
homeostasis? Endocrinology 145:3084-6,
2004.
Dunstan CR.
The role of RANK, RANK ligand and
osteoprotegerin in the lytic effects and
growth of bone metastases. In Textbook of
bone metastases, C. Jasmin, R. Capanna,
L. Coia, R.Coleman, G. Saillant (ed.). John
Wiley and Sons London, 2005.
Meier C, Ngyen T, Seibel MJ.
Monitoring of anti-resorptive treatment. In:
Dynamics of bone and cartilage
metabolism, Seibel MJ, Robins SP,
Bilezikian JP (eds), 2nd edition,
Elsevier/Acadamic Press, San Diego, 2004.
Kraenzlin ME, Seibel MJ.
Measurement of biochemical markers of
bone resorption. . In: Dynamics of bone
and cartilage metabolism, Seibel MJ,
Robins SP, Bilezikian JP (eds), 2nd edition,
Elsevier/Acadamic Press, San Diego, 2004.
Seibel MJ.
Biochemical indices of bone turnover. In:
Osteoporosis in daily clinical practice
Geusens P, Sambrook P, Lindsay R (eds).
2nd edition. Springer London, 59-67,
2004.
Ngyen T, Meier C, Seibel MJ.

Andropause:
Invention,
Prevention,
Rejuvenation. Invited review. Trends in
Endocrinology and Metabolism 16:39-45,
2005.

Variability of bone marker measurements.
In: Dynamics of bone and cartilage
metabolism. Seibel MJ, Robins SP,
Bilezikian JP (eds), 2nd edition,
Elsevier/Acadamic Press, San Diego, 2005.

Meier C, Liu PY, Handelsman DJ, Seibel MJ.

Meier C.

Endocrine regulation of bone turnover and
age-related bone loss in men. Clinical
Endocrinology 63:603-16, 2005.

Struma. In: Martina B., Battegay E., (eds).
Ambulante Medizin – Evidenz auf einen
Blick 2005 (in press).

Allan CM, Handelsman DJ.

Meier C., Müller B., Staub J.J.

Transgenic
models
for
exploring
gonadotropin biology in the male.
Endocrine 26:235-40, 2005.

Subclinical
hypothyroidism.
In:
Encyclopedia of Endocrinology and
Endocrine Diseases. Ed: L. Martini.
Academic Press, Elsevier Science 2005 (in
press).

Biogerontology
Le Couteur DG, Hilmer SN, Glasgow N,
Naganathan V, Cumming RG.
Prescribing in older people. Australian
Family Physician 33:777-781, 2004.
[invited review] McLean AJ, Le Couteur DG.
Ageing biology and geriatric clinical
pharmacology. Pharmacological Reviews
56:163-184, 2004 [invited review].
Harris MJ, Le Couteur DG, Arias IM.
A review of Progressive Familial
Intrahepatic Cholestasis: genetic disorders
of biliary transporters. Journal of
Gastroenterology
and
Hepatology
20(6):807-817, 2005.
Hilmer SN, Shenfield G, Le Couteur DG.
Clinical implications of changes in hepatic
drug metabolism in older people.
Therapeutics
and
Clinical
Risk
Management 1(2):151-156, 2005 [invited
review].

Seibel MJ, Robins SP, Bilezikian JP.
(eds.) Dynamics of bone and cartilage
metabolism. 2nd edtion, Elsevier/
Acadamic Press, San Diego, 2005 (in
press).
Meier C, Liu PY, Handelsman DJ, Seibel MJ.
Endocrine regulation of bone turnover in
men. Clinical Endocrinology 62: 2005 (in
press).
Seibel MJ.
Clinical use of markers of bone turnover in
metastatic bone disease. Nature Clinical
Practice in Oncology 2005 (in press).
Blair J, Zhou H, Dunstan CR, Seibel MJ.
Mechanisms of cancer metastases to bone.
Nature Clinical Practice in Oncology 2005
(in press).

Vascular Biology
Bhindi R, Witting PK, and Lowe HC.
Rat Models of myocardial infarction:
technical Aspects and clinical relevance.
Thrombosis and Haemostasis 2005,
(submitted).

Neuzil J, Rayner BS, Lowe HC, and Witting
PK.
Oxidative stress in myocardial ischemia
reperfusion injury: a renewed focus on a
long-standing area of heart research.
Redox Report, 2005, (in press).
Neuzil J, Witting PK, Kontush A, and
Headrick JP.
Role of vitamins E and C in nuclear factorkB and nitric oxide signalling. In
Encyclopedia of Vitamin E. Preedy V,
Watson R, Eds, CABI Publishing, London,
2005, (in press).
McMahon AC, Kritharides L, Lowe HC.
Animal
models
of
atherosclerosis
progression: current concepts. Current
Drug Targets; Cardiovascular and
Haematologic Disorders. 2005, (in press).
Neuzil J, Rayner BS, Lowe HC, Witting PK.
Oxidative stress in myocardial ischemia
reperfusion injury: a renewed focus on a
long-standing area of heart research.
Redox Report, 2005, (in press).
Lau GT, Lowe HC, Kritharides L.
Cardiac saphenous vein bypass graft
disease. Seminars in Vascular Medicine
4:153-9, 2004.
Alice Tiong and David Brieger.
Inflammation and coronary artery disease.
American. Heart Journal 149:1-8, 2005.
Kritharides L, Yiannikas J, Brieger D, Allman
K.
Coronary uptake of 67-Gallium citrate after
implantation of sirolimus stent. Circulation
109: 2156, 2004.

Onn Akbar Ali and David Brieger.
How to treat: Short term sequelae of
common cardiac procedures. Australian
Doctor June 2005.
Kritharides L.
Minimal
evidence
that
vitamin
supplementation prevents cardiovascular
disease- invited Editorial commentary.
Evidence-Based Health Care, 8:24-26,
2004.
Kritharides L.
Reducing LDL cholesterol - treating to
target in high-risk patients and meeting
new European goals. European Heart
Journal 6:A12-A18, 2004.
Kritharides L, Brieger D, Freedman SB, Lowe
HC.
Treatment of vulnerable plaque: current
and future strategies, In The Vulnerable
Plaque, L. Ed. Khachigian L, RC Press,
Boca Raton, Fla.,162-203, 2005.
Lowe HC, Khachigian L, Kritharides L,
Jackson CL.
Animal models of vulnerable plaque, In The
Vulnerable Plaque, L. Ed. Khachigian L,
CRC press, Boca Raton, Fla., 35-48, 2005.
Tiong A and Freedman SB.
Gene therapy for cardiovascular disease:
the potential of VEGF. Current Opinion in
Molecular Therapeutics 6: 151-9, 2004.
Allman KC, Freedman SB, Beller GA.
Prognosis in patients with known or
suspected coronary artery disease. In Ell
PE and Gambhir SS eds: Nuclear Medicine
in Clinical Diagnosis and Treatment, 3rd
Edition Churchill Livingstone Edinburgh,
1131-1148, 2004.
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GOVERNANCE
Felicity Barr
Felicity Barr's interest in the issues of ageing developed during her service with the Commonwealth Department of
Veterans' Affairs, including five years as Deputy Commissioner in NSW. She has completed master's studies in
gerontology and is now working towards her doctorate in the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Sydney. She
is Chair of the Board of the War Widows' Guild (NSW), Honorary Governor of the Ageing & Alzheimer's Research
Foundation, a member of the NSW Ministerial Advisory Committee on Ageing and President (NSW) of the Australian
Association of Gerontology.

Professor Andrew Coats
Professor Andrew Coats is Dean of the Faculty of Medicine at the University of Sydney. Prior to this appointment in
2003, he was the Viscount Royston Professor of Clinical Cardiology at the National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, London and formerly Director of Cardiology at the Royal Brompton
Hospital, London. Though born in Melbourne, he completed his tertiary studies in the UK graduating in Medicine
from Cambridge, awarded DM (Oxon) in 1992 and obtained an MBA from the London Business School in 2001. His
research interests lie in the area of heart failure and high blood pressure. He serves on the editorial boards of a
number of international scientific journals in the area of cardiology and on working parties of British and European
organizations related to his research interests. He brings a wealth of experience of clinical and academic medicine
as well as health management to the Board.

Professor David Cook
Professor David Cook currently holds the Chair of Cellular Physiology at The University of Sydney. He was awarded an
MD in 1995, the Gottschalk Medal of the Australian Academy of Science in 1996 and became University of Sydney
Medical Foundation Fellow of the Faculty of Medicine in 1997 when he was also promoted to professor. His research
interests are in the role of ion channels and other transporters in the cell membrane and how control membrane transport
activity. In addition to his research and teaching within the Department of Physiology, he serves as Deputy Chair of the
Central Sydney Area Health Service Human Ethics Committee and chairs the Clinical Trials Subcommittee at Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital.

Professor David Handelsman
Professor Handelsman has been Director of the ANZAC Research Institute since its inception in 1998. He is an
international expert in Andrology, the study of male reproductive health, medicine and biology. While studying for his
PhD, he established the first clinical Andrology centre in Australia that has eventually become the first Hospital
Andrology department in the country. He has served as adviser to the WHO Human Reproduction Programme,
Secretary of the International Society of Andrology and President of the Endocrine Society of Australia. He was
awarded the Susman Prize from the Royal Australasian College of Physicians in 1994 and the inaugural AMA Men’s
Health Award in 2003. He was promoted to a Personal Chair at the University of Sydney in 1996 to become the first
Professor in Andrology in Australia.

Professor Diana Horvath AO
Professor Horvath was appointed Chief Executive of the Sydney South West Area Health Service in January 2005
after serving in a similar position since 1992 with Central Sydney Area Health Service. She has chaired the National
Health and Medical Research Council, been President of the Australian Hospital Association, and served a five-year
term as a Commissioner with the Health Insurance Commission. She is an active member of the Trade Policy
Advisory Commission. She was recognised for her work in Australian public health when she was made an Officer
of Australia in 1995.

Brian Lee
Brian Lee spent his career in the medical supply industry and recently retired as Area Managing Director (Australia
and New Zealand) for Baxter Healthcare. He is the serving National President of the Leukemia Foundation of
Australia as well as being a long-time advocate and supporter of ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation.
He is currently a director of Medical Specialities Australia. He has accepted the position to chair the Fundraising
Subcommittee on the current Board.
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David MacGowan
David MacGowan brings a wealth of financial management experience to the Board. Since his retirement from BHP
Steel, where he held the position of General Manager Finance, he has been active in the community and served as
Finance Director and consultant to Opera Australia. On the Foundation’s Board he has recently accepted the position
to chair of the Board’s Finance Subcommittee.

Paul McClintock
Paul McClintock is Deputy Chair of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation. He is Chairman of Affinity
Health Limited, a Commissioner of the Health Insurance Commission, and has previously been Chairman of the
Woolcock Institute of Medical Research and Director of the Health Services Association of New South Wales. He is
the former Secretary to Cabinet and Head of the Cabinet Policy Unit for the Australian Government.

Danny O’Connor
Danny O'Connor is the present General Manager, Concord Repatriation General Hospital. His previous experience
includes working as a clinician with the Community Drug Advisory Service in Surry Hills, Sydney, a research officer with
the New South Wales Drug and Alcohol Authority were he looked at Major investigations into the evaluation of the
effectiveness of methadone treatment for opiate dependence. After which he became State Coordinator for methadone
treatment in New South Wales. He worked in the NSW Health Department as a senior policy analyst before becoming
Director of Drug Health Services in Central Sydney Area Health Service. He later moved into hospital management with
Central Sydney Area Health Service as General Manager, Sydney Dental Hospital and Oral Health Services. He currently
serves on various committees as Deputy Chair, ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, as a Member of
Ministerial Asbestos Diseases Advisory Committee and sits on the Sydney Institutes of Health & Medical Research.

Dr Charles Pawsey
After Charles Pawsey graduated from the University of Adelaide in 1967, he spent three years at Queen Elizabeth
Hospital in Adelaide. Later at Greenslopes Hospital in Brisbane he worked as a National Heart Foundation Research
Assistant undertaking research into the Renin-Angiotensin system and hypertension. He undertook his physician
traineeship at Sydney Hospital in 1972-73 and his Cardiology training at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in 1974-75 and
at Johns Hopkins Hospital in 1976. Since 1977, he has been a Staff Cardiologist at Concord Repatriation General
Hospital.

Godfrey (Rusty) Priest AM
Rusty Priest was an inaugural member of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation serving as its Deputy Chair
from 1995 to 2003. Rusty enlisted in the 2nd AIF in June 1945, serving in Japan with British Commonwealth Occupation
Forces from April 1946 to December 1948, the Australian Regular Army from 1946 to 1967 and the Emergency Reserve
until 1975. Then he undertook a management position at the University of Sydney, retiring in 1990. He is a Past President
of the Returned and Services League of Australia (NSW Branch), having held office between 1993 and 2002. He is
extensively involved in all matters affecting the welfare of veterans and their dependants. He serves currently as Chairman
of the Board of Directors of the Kokoda Track Memorial Walkway Ltd.

Dr Greg Stewart
Dr Greg Stewart is a public health physician. He undertook his medical training at Sydney University and graduated in
1979. In 1984, after several years clinical work in Australia and the United Kingdom, he undertook a Master of Public
Health degree, also at Sydney University. In 1988, he became a Fellow of the Royal Australasian College of Medical
Administrators, and was awarded the Bernard Nicholson Prize for the candidate with the highest aggregate mark in the
final RACMA examination. He is a Foundation Fellow of the Australasian Faculty of Public Health Medicine (1990).
Dr Stewart was appointed to the position of Director of Population Health, Planning and Performance, Sydney South West
Area Health Service in February 2005. His previous experience includes appointments as Deputy Director-General,
Population Health and Chief Health Officer of NSW, NSW Health (2001-2005); Chief Executive Officer, Wentworth Area
Health Service (2000-2001); Director of Health Services, Central Sydney Area Health Service (1996-2000); Director of
South Western Sydney Area Health Service Public Health Unit and SWSAHS Medical Officer of Health (1990-1996).
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Synopsis of Financial Performance
Income Streams
Peer reviewed Funding

2000-01

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

2004-05

$314,959

$1,288,014

$1,508,389

$2,329,584

$2,536,573

$84,806

$441,435

$253,682

Clinical Trials
State Government Grants

$442,400

$442,400

$492,400

$532,044

$536,063

Donations & Bequests

$186,911

$195,278

$676,161

$203,405

$571,678

$89,042

$64,842

$94,953

$60,800

$545

$122,319

$110,072

$157,709

$224,973

$295,432

$287,770

$248,470

Fundraising
Interest
Other
Total Income

Expenditure Streams
Salary Costs

$1,155,631

$2,100,606

$3,014,418

$4,080,011

$4,442,440

2000-01

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

2004-05

$203,959

$725,879

$674,508

$852,884

$1,561,386

$141,707

$257,688

Scholarships
Administrative Costs

$211,728

$327,728

$490,409

$229,686

$439,977

$41,341

$141,796

$364,263

$599,811

$650,555

R & M and Renewals

$313,663

$167,556

$118,436

$146,089

$169,644

Depreciation

$148,306

$258,281

$291,125

$498,928

$387,744

Total Expenditure

$918,997

$1,621,240

$1,938,741

$2,469,105

$3,466,994

Net increase in funds

$236,634

$479,366

$1,075,677

$1,610,906

$975,446

Consumables

The ANZAC Research Institute continues to expand its research interests attracting high quality scientists and students from
around the world. Current success in these research projects in attracting funding is largely responsible for the increases seen
in our assets.
Expenditure continues to rise reflecting the continuing growth and diversification of the Institute’s research efforts. The funds
expended on salary and scholarships reflect of the growth of research and our commitment to ongoing education of future
generations of scientists. The purchase, through generous equipment funding, has also increased the facilities for research and
the net assets of the organisation.
Detailed, audited financial statements are available in the pocket in the back cover of this report.

NEWS AND EVENTS
The ANZAC Research Institute Summer Student Program
The ANZAC Research Institute piloted the summer scholar
research program in the summer of 2004. This program was
a targeted, cost-effective way to increase recruitment of
postgraduate students to ANZAC Research Institute and the
Concord precinct. Involving tenure of eight weeks, each
student gave an oral presentation and submitted a written
report on completion of the project. This was designed to
encapsulate the total experience of research. It has been a
highly successful program for the Institute, with two students
from the first program returning to partake in further studies.
This scheme was presented to the Faculty of Medicine
Research Committee as a strategy for increasing our
postgraduate student numbers. It was recognised that the
Faculty of Medicine had an unfilled capacity for PhD
students and it was felt that this scheme could assist the
Faculty and its affiliated research facilities to establish
relationships with students, from both University of Sydney
and other institutions, and that these may translate into an
interest in postgraduate studies in the future.
In the summer of 2005, staff at the ANZAC supervised a
further eight students on the Summer Scholarship projects.
Students involved in the program were from several
universities here in Sydney and Newcastle as well as from
the University of Otago in New Zealand. The summer student
program was again a thoroughly rewarding experience for
both staff and students. This program has been made
extremely successful due to the enthusiasm and cooperation
of the all of ANZAC staff involved in hosting the summer
students
From the success of this program at the ANZAC, Professor
David Handelsman and Dr Simon Myers were awarded the
2005 Vice Chancellor’s Award for the Student Experience
through the Faculty of Learning and Education at University
of Sydney.

Northcott Neurosciences Laboratory Dedication
Mr Mick Reid, Director General of the NSW Ministry for
Science and Medical Research, officially opened the Northcott
Neurosciences Laboratory on Friday 5th November 2004.
This dedication of the laboratory located at the ANZAC
Research Institute is to honour the Northcott Neurological
and Diagnostic Centre’s contribution to the continued
commitment to research and understanding of neurological
conditions.
The Northcott Bequest arose from the closure in the early
1990s of the Northcott Neurological and Diagnostic Centre
in Litton Street Cammeray. Under the provisions of its trust,
funds must be used for neurological services.
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
received some of the proceeds to fulfil the shared vision of
supporting medical research into conditions affecting older
members of the veteran and wider communities, notably into
neurological disease.
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These funds are being used for research into
neurodegenerative diseases including dementias, such as
Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease, and stroke, as well
as motor and sensory neuropathies. In addition to supporting
the laboratory itself, these funds are currently supporting two
postgraduate PhD scholarships is this area of interest.

3rd ANZAC Research Institute Symposium
Professor Markus Seibel and Bone Biology hosted the highly
successful 3rd ANZAC Research Institute Symposium on
12th November 2004 staged in association with the Concord
Hospital Clinical Week.
The audience of about 100 medical practitioners and
interested others was addressed by twelve local and
international experts in the field of bone biology. Topics
covered included Basic Bone Biology, Osteoporesis,
Metastatic Bone Disease and Joint Disease and Cartilage
Biology.

Fundraising
The Institute’s major focus in 2004-5 was its continued
growth in staff and students, and equipment. Although there
was little organised fundraising, plans are now in place to
increase the focus on this important aspect of the ANZAC
Health and Medical Research Foundation’s mission in
2005-06.
The donations received from our loyal and continually
generous donors and Friends of the ANZAC Research
Institute (FOTARI) totalled $117,607. Their generosity makes
such a difference to what the Foundation is able to achieve
and provides very necessary support for the research that
ANZAC Research Institute can undertake. The Foundation
wishes to thank these people and organisations for their
generosity and belief in our worthy mission.
A huge boost to the possibility of research into Motor
Neurone Disease came with the receipt of two bequests.
The Pamela Churm Bequest continued its commitment this
important work by giving $50,000. Whilst through the
generous forethought of Motor Neurone Disease sufferer
Elaine Kendall of Auckland, New Zealand willed the whole of
her estate, which exceeded $350,000 to finding relief for this
dreadful disease.
We are very fortunate that the Friends of the ANZAC
Research Institute, the FOTARI, continue to be a constant
source of support, as do the many RSL Sub Branches and
Veterans groups. These generous supporters together with
NSW Health Grants allow the ANZAC Research Institute the
ability to offer excellent facilities to the many researchers
who choose to work here.
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DONOR HONOUR ROLL
FOTARI

Bequests
Estate of Elaine Kendall
Pamela Churm Bequest
Estate of Norman Trimbell

$355,530.00
$50,000.00
$100.00

Community Organisations
Burwood RSL Club
Returned & Services League of
Australia-Nth Sydney
RSL - Chesterhill-Carramar Sub-Branch
Pittwater RSL Sub Branch
The Children of Great Lakes College
Epping RSL Sub Branch

$55,000.00
$1,200.00
$1,000.00
$200.00
$283.85
$100.00

Charitable Foundations
CASS Foundation Limited
Ageing and Alzheimer’s Research
Foundation
Australian Rotary Health Research Fund
Charcot-Marie-Tooth Association
of Australia
National Heart Foundation

$17,500.00
$15,995.00
$13,500.00
$2,500.00
$1,440.00

Corporations
Bayer Australia
InSight Oceania Pty Ltd
Roche Diagnostics
Bristol Squibb Meyer
N.S.W B.W & B Magazine
Eli Lilly Australia Pty Ltd
AXA Australia
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Stramit Corporation Limited

$15,000.00
$4,500.00
$1,600.00
$1,000.00
$500.00
$500.00
$227.80
$200.00
$100.00

Neville Jeffress
Paul Waizer
Dr Charles Pawsey
Dr Paul Collett
Dr John Linsley
Helen C F McCathie
R W Balfour
Dr Steven Kalowski
Ramon Bullock
Dr Gregory Falk
Dr Ross Bradbury
Dr G D Pearce
Dr Eileen Collins
Carol & Brian Horne
Alan Davidson
Andrew G Richardson
Dr M W Hayes
RS Bateup
JR Belcher
William James Forbes
L Ross & GC Jones
Simon & Helen Elimelakh
Gloria J Batkin
Major John P. Kelly (Ret'd)
Harry Overton
William James Forbes
Anh Dung Tran
William E Carter
Bryn Jones
Peter & Val Kennedy
Brigadier RW Morris
Ron O'Connor
Mrs Joan S Perry
EJ Kirchner
Doris M Marshall

$2,000.00
$1,200.00
$1,040.00
$1,008.00
$1,008.00
$1,000.00
$1,000.00
$916.63
$550.00
$550.00
$520.00
$520.00
$400.00
$200.00
$200.00
$200.00
$104.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$100.00
$60.00
$50.00
$50.00
$50.00
$50.00
$50.00
$50.00
$30.00
$20.00

ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation
ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation - Trust Fund

ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation
Hospital Road CONCORD NSW 2139
Telephone: (02) 9767 9100 or Facsimile: (02) 9767 9101
www.anzac.edu.au Email: anzac@anzac.edu.au

2005 Annual Financial Reports
and Independent Audit Reports

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors hereby present their report for the year ended 30 June 2005.

DIRECTORS
The names and details of directors in office at the date of this report are:

Mrs Felicity Barr BA MHSC FAICD FAAG
Chair
Chair, NSW Ministerial Advisory Committee on Ageing
Chairman, War Widows’ Guild of Australia (NSW) Ltd
President, Australian Association of Gerontology (NSW)
Honorary Governor, Ageing and Alzheimer’s Research Foundation
Member, National Institute for Governance

Mr Paul McClintock BA LLB
Deputy Chair
Director, McClintock Associates Pty Ltd
Chairman, ADI Ltd and Thales Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
Director, Perpetual Trustees Australia Ltd
Director, Macquarie Infrastructure Investment Management Ltd
Commissioner, Health Insurance Commission

Professor Andrew J S Coats MA DM MB BChir FRACP FRCP FESC FACC FAHA MBA
Dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Sydney

Dr Ross Bradbury MB BS FRACP FRCPA
Director, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Concord RG Hospital

Professor David Cook MB BS MSc MD FRACP
Professor, Department of Physiology, University of Sydney

Professor David J Handelsman MB BS FRACP PhD
Director, ANZAC Research Institute
Sub-Dean Research (Concord), University of Sydney
Director, Department of Andrology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital

Professor Diana G Horvath AO MB BS (Hons) MHP FRACMA FAFPHM FCHSE
Chief Executive Officer, Sydney South West Area Health Service
Board Member, Centenary Institute for Cancer Medicine and Cell Biology
Board Member, Sydney Cancer Foundation

1

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONT’D

Mr Brian M Lee
Chair, Fundraising Subcommittee
Director, Medical Specialities Australia
National President, Leukaemia Foundation of Australia
National President, Medical Industries Association of Australia
Member, Parramatta Development Board

Mr David MacGowan BEc CPA FAICD
Chair, Finance Subcommittee

Mr Danny O’Connor BSocStd(Hons) MSocPol
General Manager, Concord RG Hospital

Dr Charles G Pawsey MB BS FRACP DDU
Member, Concord Repatriation General Hospital Medical Staff Council
Senior Specialist in Cardiology

Mr Godfrey E Priest AM
Chairman, Kokoda Track Memorial Walkway
Chairman, Lady Davidson Private Hospital Advisory Committee
Executive Member, Australian Red Cross (NSW Division)
Community Member, Graduate Medical Program, University of Sydney
Member, NSW Health Priorities Task Force

Dr Gregory Stewart MB BS MHP FRACMA FAFPHM
Director of Population Health, Planning and Performance, Sydney South West Area Health Service
Chair, NSW Health Clinical Ethics Advisory Panel
Member, NSW Medical Board and Board Performance Committee
Chair, NSW Regional Committee, Australasian Faculty of Public Medicine
Member, Board of Continuing Professional Development, Australasian Faculty of Public Medicine

At this date no director has any interest in the equity of the Foundation.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during the year were that of acting as trustee for the
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. There was no significant change in the nature of that activity during the
year.
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OPERATING RESULTS
The Company did not trade in its own right, and made neither a profit nor a loss.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during the year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
No matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the ANZAC
Health and Medical Research Foundation in subsequent years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The Company will continue to act as trustee of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The combined effect of all fund raising campaigns conducted by the trust throughout the financial year has raised $381,924 in cash
($177,045 for 2003/2004) and $600 in pledges ($800 for 2003/2004).

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
During the financial period, meetings of directors, including committees, were held. Attendances are tabulated below:

BOARD MEETINGS
Eligible to Attend

Number Attended

Approved leave
of absence

Mrs F M Barr (Chair)

3

3

Mr M Daly

2

0

Prof D Handelsman

3

3

Prof A Coats

3

2

Prof D Cook

3

3

Prof D Horvath AO

3

0

Mr B Lee

3

2

Mr D MacGowan

3

2

Mr P McClintock (Deputy Chair)

3

2

Mr D O’Connor

1

1

Dr C Pawsey

3

3

Mr G Priest AM

3

3

3
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during or since the financial year, in respect of any person who is or has been
an officer, has not been

• indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an officer, including costs or expenses in
successfully defending legal proceedings; or
• paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability incurred as an officer for the costs or expenses
to defend legal proceedings.

CGU Professional Risks Insurance, a division of CGU Insurance Limited, insures all directors against liabilities for costs and expenses
incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of director of the Company,
other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company.

EMPLOYEES
The Foundation employed no employees as at 30 June 2005 (2004: nil employees).

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE
The Foundation is not subject to any environmental regulation.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
No directors have received or become entitled to receive a benefit, other than the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the parent entity
or a related body corporate, by reason of a contract made by or with the parent entity or a related body corporate with the director or
with a firm he or she is a member, or with a company in which he or she has a substantial financial interest.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The Auditor’s independence declaration is set out elsewhere in these financial statements.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Felicity Barr

David MacGowan

Chair

Director

Dated this twenty fourth day of October 2005 at Sydney.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
Notes

2005

2004

$

$

Expenses from ordinary activities

0

0

Revenue from ordinary activities

0

0

2

0

0

1(C)

0

0

0

0

0

0

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities
Net profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from
transactions with owners as owners

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2005
Notes

8

2005

2004

$

$

Total Assets

0

0

Total Liabilities

0

0

Net Assets

0

0

Accumulated Funds

0

0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2005
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that complies with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, including
Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views and with the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and
the Health Services Act 1999 and its regulations. The accounting policies used are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

(B) ACCOUNTING RECORDS
As required by Section 45C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Foundation has kept proper accounts and records in relation
to all its activities.

(C) INCOME TAX
The Foundation is exempt from income tax under Section 23(j) of the Income Tax Assessment Act.

(D) TRUSTEE
The Company acts as trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. The accounting policies adopted
by the Company in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005 reflect the fiduciary nature of the
Company’s responsibility for the assets and liabilities of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund which are
set out in note 4.

NOTE 2: REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The Company did not trade during the past financial year.

NOTE 3: STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
No cashflows took place within the Foundation and hence no Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared. The Foundation does not
maintain a bank account and has no other source of funding that meets the definition of a cash equivalent.

NOTE 4: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF THE FOUNDATION
The Company acts as trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund. The assets and liabilities of the
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund as disclosed in the financial statements of the Trust are as follows:

2005

2004

$

$

Current Assets

6,711,646

5,803,951

Non-Current Assets

6,265,775

6,010,641

12,977,421

11,814,592

404,466

265,945

59,816

10,954

464,282

276,899

TOTAL ASSETS
Current liabilities
Non-Current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

12,513,319

11,537,693

Represented by TRUST FUNDS

12,513,319

11,537,693
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NOTE 5: DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS
No directors received, directly or indirectly income paid, payable, or otherwise made available from ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation during this financial year.
No amount was paid, on behalf of a director, to a superannuation plan.

NOTE 6: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The names of the Foundation's directors who held office during the financial year were:
Ms F M Barr

Appointed 14/10/03

Mr B Lee

Prof A Coats

Appointed 14/10/03

Mr D MacGowan

Appointed 3/6/04

Prof D Cook

Appointed 14/10/03

Mr P McClintock

Appointed 14/10/03

Mr Matthew Daly

Resigned 10/1/05

Prof D J Handelsman
Prof D G Horvath AO

Appointed 16/06/98
Appointed 21/1/95

Appointed 14/10/03

Mr Danny O’Connor
Dr C Pawsey

Appointed 20/2/05

Appointed 18/3/97

Mr G E Priest AM

Appointed 30/09/03

NOTE 7: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The auditors’ remuneration was paid by a related party. No amounts were charged to the Foundation by the related party in respect of
the auditors’ remuneration.

NOTE 8: GUARANTEE
The Foundation is limited by guarantee. In the event that the Foundation is wound up, the Memorandum of Association states that each
director is required to contribute $20.00 each towards meeting outstanding obligations of the Foundation.

NOTE 9: SEGMENT INFORMATION
As the trustee for the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund, the principal activity of the Trust during the financial
period was to promote and facilitate healthcare delivery and research on illness and disease associated with lifestyle and ageing. The
financial results of the Trust reflect the conduct of this activity.
The geographical location of the Company is Australia.

NOTE 10: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Interest Rate Risk
All financial instruments are non-interest bearing.
(b) Net Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at the balance date at their net fair values. The carrying amounts of all financial
assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short term to maturity.
(c) Credit Risk Exposures
The Foundation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying
amount of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet.

NOTE 11: IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO IASB STANDARDS
Management have reviewed the pending Australian equivalents of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and do not believe
that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on the financial report of the Foundation.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, we state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Foundation are in accordance with the Corporations’ Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Foundation’s financial position as at 30 June 2005 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations’ Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Foundation will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A
of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2005.

On behalf of the Board

Felicity Barr

David MacGowan

Chair

Director

Dated this twenty fourth day of October 2005 at Sydney.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
Notes

2005

2004

$

$

Revenue from ordinary activities

2(b)

4,442,440

3,997,685

Expenses from ordinary activities

2(a)

3,466,994

2,334,249

975,446

1,663,436

0

0

Operating surplus after related income tax expense

975,446

1,663,436

Total changes in equity attributable to beneficiaries of the trust

975,446

1,663,436

Operating surplus before income tax expense
Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities

1(D)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2005
Notes

2005

2004

$

$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets

4

508,217

402,538

Other financial assets

5

5,919,994

4,792,082

Receivables

6

283,435

609,331

6,711,646

5,803,951

6,265,775

6,010,641

6,265,775

6,010,641

12,977,421

11,814,592

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

7

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

8

250,450

186,429

Provisions

9

154,016

79,516

404,466

265,945

59,816

10,954

59,816

10,954

TOTAL LIABILITIES

12,513,139

11,537,693

NET ASSETS

12,513,139

11,537,693

100

100

12,267,873

11,292,427

245,166

245,166

12,513,139

11,537,693

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

9

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TRUST FUNDS
Cash Assets

12

Accumulated
Reserves
TOTAL TRUST FUNDS
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
Notes

2005

2004

$

$

669,074

532,044

0

67,500

533,470

217,110

2,775,507

2,211,399

(2,864,283)

(1,878,857)

Interest received

322,774

205,368

Other receipts

439,927

297,050

1,876,469

1,651,614

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(642,878)

(435,118)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(642,878)

(435,118)

Net increase in cash held

1,233,591

1,216,496

Cash at the beginning of the financial year

5,194,620

3,978,124

6,428,211

5,194,620

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts State Government Funding
Receipts Commonwealth Research Consultancy
Receipts from donations
Receipts from peer reviewed funding
Payments to suppliers and employees

Net cash flows from operating activities

3

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash at the end of the financial year

3
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that complies with Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus
Views and with the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Health Services Act 1999 and its regulations in
accordance with the Trust Deed (dated 21 February 1995). The accounting policies used are consistent with those adopted in the
previous year. The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for leasehold buildings
which have been measured at fair value.

(B) ACCOUNTING RECORDS
As required by Section 45C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Trust Fund has kept proper accounts and records in relation
to all its activities.

(C) DEPRECIATION
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis against all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of each
depreciable asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation. Land is not considered
a depreciable asset.
Property, plant and equipment have been depreciated from not later than the month following acquisition or operation. Depreciation
rates on individual assets are reviewed annually.
Detail of depreciation rates and useful lives for major asset categories, according to NSW Health Accountancy Manual rates, are as
follows:

Depreciation Rates

Rate (%)

Life (years)

Leasehold Buildings

4.0

25

• Costing less than $200,000

10.0

10

• Costing more than $200,000

12.5

8

Computer Equipment

20.0

5

Computer Software

20.0

5

Electro Medical Equipment

Office Equipment

10.0-12.5

8-10

Plant and Machinery

10.0

10

Furniture, Fittings and Furnishings

10.0

10

(D) INCOME TAX
The Trust Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 23(j) of the Income Tax Assessment Act.

(E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment are brought to account at cost, less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated over their useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready
for use.
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(E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Costs incurred in relation to the construction of the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Institute have been capitalised as leasehold
buildings. Leasehold buildings are carried at fair value. In the directors’ opinion the written down value is equal to fair value.
Where the assets have been revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account in the
determination of the revalued carrying amount.
The leasehold buildings have been built on land leased from Sydney South West Area Health Service. The lease for the land and
buildings is for 25 years, and the New South Wales’ Minister of Health may terminate this lease at any time on reasonable notice.

(F) CASH
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes; cash on hand and at call deposits with banks or financial institutions, net
of bank overdrafts.

(G) SETTLEMENT
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund was made between Robert Edward McKeown, the settlor, and the
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation, the trustee, on 21 February 1995.
The Trust has carried out all trading activities in accordance with the provisions of the trust deed.

(H) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments give rise to positions that are a financial asset of either ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation or its
counterparty and a financial liability (or equity instrument) of the other party. For ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation
these include cash at bank, receivables, investments and payables.
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS33, “Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments”, information is
disclosed in Note 18 in respect of the interest rate risk and credit risk of financial instruments. All such amounts are carried in the
accounts at net fair value. The specific accounting policy in respect of each class of such financial instrument is stated hereunder.
Classes of instruments recorded at cost and their terms and conditions at balance date are as follows:
(i) Cash
Accounting Policies: Cash is carried at nominal values reconcilable to monies on hand and independent bank statements.
Terms and Conditions: Monies on deposit at balance date attract an effective interest rate of between 0.01% and 3.45%
(2004: 0.00% and 0.85%) and between 0.1% and 4.00% (2004: 1.09% and 3.85%).
(ii) Receivables
Accounting Policies: Receivables are carried at nominal amounts due less any provision for doubtful debts. A provision for doubtful debts
is recognised when collection of the full nominal amount is no longer probable.
Terms and Conditions: Accounts are issued on 30 day terms.
(iii) Investments
Accounting Policies: Investments reported at cost include both short term and fixed term deposits. Interest is recognised in the
Statement of Financial Performance when earned.
Terms and Conditions: Fixed term deposits have an average maturity of 30 days (2004: 33 days) and effective interest rates of 5.25%
to 5.6% (2004: 4.64% to 5.30%).
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(iv) Payables
Accounting Policies: Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future of goods and services received, whether or not billed
to the Foundation.
Terms and Conditions: Trade liabilities are settled within any terms specified. If no terms are specified, payments are made by the end
of the month following the month in which the invoice is received.
There are no classes of instruments that are recorded at other than cost or market valuation. All financial instruments including revenue,
expenses and other cash flows arising from instruments are recognised on an accrual basis.

(I) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Research and development costs are charged as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

(J) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These
benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave.
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve
months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when
the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows,
the market yield as at the reporting date on national government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related liability are used.
Employee benefit expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories:
• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave and other leave benefits; and
• other types of employee benefits;
are recognised against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.

(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue arising from the sale of goods, the provision of services and the use of the Trust’s assets is recognised when:
a) the Trust has passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer;
b) the Trust controls a right to be compensated for services rendered;
c) the Trust controls a right relating to the consideration payable for the provision of investment assets;
d) it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the consideration will flow to the entity;
e) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
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(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Grants
Operating grants received from the Government are allocated as revenue upon receipt.

Donations
Donations are taken to revenue when received.

Interest
Interest is accrued on a daily basis.

(L) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:
• the amount of GST incurred by the agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office is recognised as part
of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense;
• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

(M) PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of economic benefits
to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be
required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
2005

2004

$

$

1,561,386

892,495

650,555

541,413

130,556

75,357

Advertising

19,287

7,823

Functions

10,823

3,185

0

1,225

Accounting & Legal Fees

1,845

7,645

Audit Fees

5,000

10,000

257,688

141,707

Books & Reference Material

10,784

18,962

Stationery & Office Supplies

44,955

33,138

7,638

6,302

209,089

124,447

697,665

429,791

387,744

324,462

154,760

109,596

14,884

36,492

169,644

146,088

3,466,994

2,334,249

39,350

92,455

2,400

4,247

529,925

106,658

545

25,000

0

67,500

State Government Funding

536,063

665,055

Interest Income

295,432

224,973

2,536,573

2,488,184

502,152

323,613

4,442,440

3,997,685

a) Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee Benefits
Consumables
Administrative
Conference, Training & Travel

Consultants

Scholarships

Freight & Courier
Miscellaneous Admin Expenses

Depreciation
Repairs, Maintenance &Renewals
Equipment
Other

Total expenses from ordinary activities
(b) Revenue from ordinary activities
Donations Corporate
Donations RSL
Donations Other
Fundraising Activities
Commonwealth Research Consultancy

Peer Reviewed Funding
Other Revenue
Total Revenue from ordinary activities
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NOTE 3: STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2005

2004

$

$

975,446

1,663,436

Depreciation

387,744

324,461

Provision for employee entitlement

123,362

30,746

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables

325,896

(520,208)

64,021

113,568

0

39,611

1,876,469

1,651,614

508,167

402,488

50

50

Current Investments

5,919,994

4,792,082

Total Cash

6,428,211

5,194,620

50

50

General Account

889

3,483

Research Account

826

7,023

BioFirst IT Cash Management Account

95,755

0

Donations Cash Management Account

6,174

8,329

54,029

100,626

(a) Reconciliation of the operating surplus after income
tax to net cash provided by operating activities
Operating surplus after income tax

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items

Increase/(Decrease) in creditors
(Increase)/Decrease in other
Net cash from operating activities

(b) Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items
in the statement of financial position as follows:
Cash at Bank
Cash on Hand

NOTE 4: CASH ASSETS
Cash on hand

General Cash Management Account
Research Cash Management Account

350,494

283,027

508,217

402,538

5,919,994

4,792,082

NOTE 5: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other Financial Assets

Investments comprise of interest bearing deposits held with financial institutions. Market values of investments are the same as their
book value.
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NOTE 6: RECEIVABLES – CURRENT

Accounts receivable
Interest receivable

2005

2004

$

$

280,730

579,284

2,705

30,047

283,435

609,331

NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold

Plant &

2005

2004

Buildings

Equipment

Total

Total

5,999,999

1,064,631

7,064,630

6,629,512

Additions

0

642,878

642,878

435,118

Disposals

0

0

0

0

Reclassification/Transfers

0

0

0

0

Balance at 30 June 2005

5,999,999

1,707,509

7,707,508

7,064,630

Balance 1 July 2004

865,627

188,362

1,053,989

729,527

Charge for the year

240,000

147,744

387,744

324,462

Adjustments for Disposals

0

0

0

0

Revaluation increment/decrement

0

0

0

0

Balance at 30 June 2005

1,105,627

336,106

1,441,733

1,053,989

Written Down Value

4,894,372

1,371,403

6,265,775

6,010,641

Balance 1 July 2004

DEPRECIATION

NOTE 8: PAYABLES

Creditors and Accruals
GST Payables

2005

2004

$

$

220,458

97,785

29,992

88,644

250,450

186,429

154,016

79,516

59,816

10,954

213,832

90,470

NOTE 9: PROVISIONS
Current Employee Benefits
Non-Current Employee Benefits
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NOTE 10: COMMITMENTS
2005

2004

$

$

Capital expenditure commitments for plant and equipment
that have not been provided for in the accounts

Payable not later than one year

285,360

236,711

11,292,427

9,628,991

975,446

1,663,436

12,267,873

11,292,427

100

100

245,166

245,166

NOTE 11: ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Balance at beginning of financial year
Operating surplus for the year
Balance at the end of financial year

NOTE 12: SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT
Payment by the Settlor of the Trust Deed

NOTE 13: RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Reserve

NOTE 14: DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Only one director, the Director of ANZAC Research Institute, received vehicular expenses in the amount of $4,523 in 2005.
No other Director received, directly or indirectly income paid or payable, or otherwise made available from ANZAC Health and Medical
Research Foundation Trust Fund during this financial year.
No amount was paid, on behalf of a director, to a superannuation plan.

NOTE 15: CONDITIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS - RESEARCH PURPOSES

Contributions recognised as revenues for which expenditure
in manner specified has not occurred as at balance date
Contributions recognised in previous years that were not
expended in the current financial year
Total amount of unexpended contributions as at balance date

Purchase of Assets

Research

Other

Total

$

$

$

$

153,030

1,237,466

541,167

1,931,663

0

1,399,051

216,847

1,615,898

153,030

2,636,517

758,014

3,547,561

Further comments on restricted assets are included in Note 16.
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NOTE 16: RESTRICTED ASSETS – RESEARCH PURPOSES
These financial statements include the following assets that are restricted by externally imposed conditions e.g. donor requirements.
The assets are only available for application in accordance with the terms of the donor restrictions.

2005

2004

$

$

Category
Specific Purposes

Donations for research specific use

1,028,909

740,519

1,607,608

1,166,745

77,554

291,874

Research Grants

Specific project grants
Other

Holding Funds
Purchase of laboratory equipment

66,000

67,300

680,460

478,556

87,030

0

3,547,561

2,744,994

Contracted studies
Establishment and subsequent maintenance of BioFirst IT Link

NOTE 17: FUNDRAISING AND APPEAL ACTIVITIES
The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation is a certified holder of an authority to raise funds under the provision of Section
16 of the Charitable Fundraising Act, 1991.
Income received and the cost of raising income for specific fundraising has been audited and all revenue and expenses have been
recognised in the financial statement of the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation.

Appeals
Functions
Total

Percentage of Income

INCOME

DIRECT

INDIRECT

2005 NET

2004 NET

RAISED

EXPENDITURE

EXPENDITURE

PROCEEDS

PROCEEDS

$

$

$

$

$

375,259

0

0

375,259

158,509

6,665

26,373

0

(19,708)

30,350

381,924

26,373

0

355,551

188,859

100%

6.91%

0.00%

93.09%

Direct expenditure includes printing, postage, food and beverage.
Indirect expenditure includes additional staff time.
The net proceeds were held in ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation pending allocation.
The provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under the Act have been complied with and internal
controls exercised by the ANZAC Health & Medical Research Foundation are considered appropriate and effective in accounting for
all the income received in all material respects.
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Interest Rate Risk
The weighted average effective interest rate for cash assets during the year was 1.91% (2004: 2.36%). The weighted average effective
interest rate for other deposits and investments was 5.37% (2004: 5.02%). All other financial instruments are non-interest bearing.
(b) Credit Risk Exposures
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract, or financial position failing to discharge a financial
obligation thereunder. The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation's maximum exposure to Credit Risk is represented by the
carrying amounts of the financial assets included in the Statement of Financial Position.
Credit Risk by classification of counterparty.

Banks 2005

Other 2005

Total 2005

Total 2004

Financial Assets
Cash

508,217

0

508,217

402,488

2,705

280,730

283,435

609,331

Other Loans & Deposits

5,919,994

0

5,919,994

4,792,082

Total Financial Assets

6,430,916

280,730

6,711,646

5,803,901

Receivables

(c) Net Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at the balance date at their net fair values. The carrying amounts of all financial
assets and liabilities approximates their fair value due to their short term to maturity.

NOTE 19: IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
(a) Management of the transition to AIFRS
ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation is in the process of transitioning its accounting policies and financial reporting from
current Australian Standards (AGAAP) to Australian Equivalents to International Reporting Standards (AIFRS) which will be applicable
for the financial year ending 30 June 2006. Key areas that will be impacted by the transition to AIFRS were identified in 2005 financial
year. Priority has been given to considering the preparation of an opening balance sheet in accordance with AIFRS as at 1 July 2004,
ANAZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation’s transition date to AIFRS. This will be form the basis of accounting for AIFRS in the
future, and is required when ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation prepares its first fully AIFRS compliant financial report
for the year ended 30 June 2006, including prior year comparative information.
(b) Explanatory notes to the likely impacts of transitioning to AIFRS
Set out below are the key areas, identified to date, where accounting policies are currently expected to change and these changes may
have an impact on the financial report of ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation.
The figures disclosed are management’s best estimates of the quantitative impact of the changes as at the date of preparing the 30 June
2005 financial report. The actual effects of transition to AIFRS may differ from the estimates disclosed due to (a) ongoing work being
undertaken by the company on AIFRS; (b) potential amendments to AIFRS and Interpretations thereof being issued by the standardsetters and IFRIC, and (c) emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and application AIFRS and UIG Interpretations.

27

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2005
Revenue recognition
AASB 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance requires government grants to be recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match them with their related costs which they are intended to
compensate, but only when there is reasonable assurance that:

• The company will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
• The grants will be received.

As per AASB 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance any government grants received will
be required to be matched against the related costs. Under current accounting standards, grants received from the Government are
allocated as revenue during the period for which the grant is intended to be used. Management is in the process of determining the
impact that adopting the standards would have on the financial report.

TRUSTEES’ DECLARATION
In accordance with a resolution of ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation Trust Fund, we state that:

In the opinion of the Trustees:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Trust:
i. present fairly the Trust’s financial position as at 30 June 2005 and of its performance as represented by the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year ended on that date; and
ii. comply with Accounting Standards; and
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

On behalf of the Trustees

Felicity Barr

David MacGowan

Chair

Director

Dated this twenty fourth day of October 2005 at Sydney.
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